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	SHERRY BRIDGES, 

                                                  Employee, 

                                                     Applicant,

                                                   v. 

JUNEAU YOUTH SERVICES, INC.,

                                                  Employer,
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200613244
AWCB Decision No. 08-0097
Filed with AWCB Juneau, Alaska

on May 27, 2008


On April 8, 2008, the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (“board”), at Juneau, Alaska, heard the employee’s January 4, 2007 workers’ compensation claim (“WCC”) seeking temporary total disability (“TTD”) benefits from August 23, 2006 and continuing; medical benefits; transportation benefits; a re-employment benefits eligibility determination; and a finding of unfair and frivolous controversion.  The employee appeared pro se.  Colby Smith of Griffin & Smith, Anchorage, represented the employer and its insurer (“employer”).  The board closed the record at the conclusion of the hearing.

ISSUES
1.
Should the hearing set for April 8, 2008 be continued while the employee continues to seek attorney representation?

2.
Is the employee entitled to further TTD benefits?

3.
Is the employee entitled to further medical benefits, including medically-related transportation benefits?

4.  Is the employee entitled to a re-employment benefits eligibility determination?

5. Was the employer’s controversion unfair and frivolous?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE
A. Medical evidence:  

We incorporate by reference the statement of the medical evidence from our previous interlocutory order for a Second Independent Medical Evaluation (SIME).*  Additional facts are noted in brackets, based on the complete record as augmented since that decision was issued To maintain the original footnote numbering sequence of Decision and Order No. 07-0223 regarding medical evidence, additional footnotes on medical evidence are added using a decimal system: 
. . . On August 28, 2006, a Report of Injury was filed by which the employee reported that due to tasks of moving files and computer equipment at the workplace, she sustained injury to her hands and her back.

The employee has a history of hand pain, diagnosed as arthritis NOS
 with bilateral joint pain in the thumbs.
  The employee also has a history of perforated ulcer repair, TMJ
 syndrome, migraine headaches, and atypical nevus.
  [By the employee’s reported history, t]he perforated ulcer was induced by non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), and therefore the employee [reports she] is unable to use NSAIDs for control of arthritis pain; she has been prescribed a variety of opioid medications for pain.
  The employee has also had problems with insomnia.
  More recently, [after the alleged date of injury,] the employee has been diagnosed with major depression and adjustment disorder[, although the employee was recorded as reporting having received electroconvulsant therapy (ECT) more than 20 years ago as treatment for an unrecorded diagnosis7.1].
Dr. Heidi Lopez-Coonjohn, the employee’s psychiatrist, indicates that both the depression and adjustment disorder are attributed to work-related stress regarding employment.
  

The employer is a non-profit agency that provides mental health services to youth in Juneau. The employee was employed by the defendant as a Case Manager,[8.1] working in schools of the Juneau School District, serving children with emotional disturbance and other issues.
  The employee moved to Juneau and was hired by the employer in February 2002.
 

The employee was employed for approximately four years, and described the job as stressful.
  The employee, who described herself as very good at her job as a case manager, testified that she was asked to falsify paperwork by staff of her employer, and that when she refused to do so, she was written up for insubordination.
  The employee testified that she was suspended for unstated reasons by the employer on or about August 25, 2006, and never returned to work after the suspension.
  The employee testified that she believes the suspension was in retaliation for her refusal to falsify documents related to the employer’s alleged understaffing of case managers.

[The employee was prescribed the pain medications Darvocet N (aka dextroproxyphene) and Percocet (aka oxycodone), as well as the sedative/muscle relaxant Valium (aka diazepam), since at least October 2003.14.1  On February 15, 2005, anti-depressant Effexor XR was started, to treat reports of the employee’s post-menopausal hot flashes.14.2
On March 25, 2005, the employee reported that her car had been broken into, and all of her medications stolen; she requested and received a complete refill of the four medications prescribed at that time: Darvocet N, Percocet, Valium, and Effexor XR.  The employee was cautioned not to store prescription medications in her car.14.3       

On May 10, 2006, the employee reported she would be gone from Juneau for a month, and requested refills of her medications; she was provided a 30-day supply (60 tablets) of Valium, and a 30-day supply (60 tablets) of Darvocet N; a 30-day supply (30 tablets) of Percocet had been given on May 8, 2006.14.4  

On June 23, 2006, the employee reported that while in Washington state, she had a bout of migraine headaches and consumed all of her Percocet, and that she had mailed her Darvocet N and Valium to herself at a casino.  Due to a power outage at the casino, she reported, the package was never delivered to her.  The employee requested a 90 day supply of Valium (180 tablets), as well as a 30-day supply of Percocet (60 tablets), but her provider refused to refill the Darvocet N and Valium before July 10, 2006, refilling only the Effexor.  The provider again cautioned the employee to keep control of her prescription medications.14.5   The prescription for Darvocet N and Valium were refilled on July 24, 2006.14.6]  

For the school years 2004-05 and 200[5]-06, the employee testified she had been based in Gastineau Elementary School, and during the summer of 2006 worked at Glacier Valley Elementary School. In August 2006, the employee testified, she was directed shortly before the start of the 2006-07 school year to move educational materials, computers, computer batteries, and other equipment from both of these two schools, without assistance, to a consolidated location at a third school, Harborview Elementary School.
  The employee reports increased hand pain and inception of back pain as a result of this move.
  [The employee received refills of Percocet, Propox (a brand equivalent of Darvocet N) and Valium on August 16 and 22, 2006.16.1]
The employee testified that her last day of working for the employer was
August [23], 2006, although in her deposition she expressed some uncertainty about the exact date, but she testified [that she made unsuccessful attempts to work on August 24 and 25, 2006, before she was suspended by the employer for unstated reasons on August 25, 2006].

[On August 25, 2006, the employee consulted Juneau hand specialist Gregory Dostal, M.D.  Dr. Dostal had been treating the employee since January 2006, had performed two prior steroid injections of the employee’s basal thumb joints, and on August 25, 2006, performed a third injection of the employee’s thumb joints.  Dr. Dostal also prescribed 12 Percocet pills, and referred the employee for occupational therapy for fitting of wrist splints.  There is no recitation in Dr. Dostal’s August 25 chart note of a report of back pain.17.1]
[The employee was seen by occupational therapist Jill Lingle, OT on August 28, 2006, and again by Dr. Dostal on August 29, 2006, again without notation of any complaint of back pain.  Dr. Dostal also prescribed 10 additional Percocet pills on August 29, 2006.17.2]

[Dr. Dostal ordered x-rays of the employee’s thumbs, which were taken and read on September 1, 2006.  Dr. Dostal reviewed the results of x-ray with the employee on that date, which he opined showed “grade 3-4 basal joint osteoarthritis of the thumb as is expected.”  At the September 1 clinic visit, the employee requested a fourth injection of the thumbs, but Dr. Dostal declined, stating in his chart note, “I cannot expedite her comfort with another injection.”  Dr. Dostal noted the employee complained of clicking and popping in her right elbow “and maybe some electric feelings going from the base of her palm up to wards her elbow,” and he suggested an evaluation and possibly nerve conduction studies of the right arm by Dr. Bursell.  Dr. Dostal charted no report of back pain.17.3]
[On September 1, 2006, Dr. Dostal wrote a referral letter to John Bursell, MD, referring only to “CMC pain17.4,” “CMC arthritis,”  and elbow pain, without mention of complaints of back pain.  Dr. Dostal suggested “possibly performing nerve conduction velocities of the median nerve and ulnar nerve of the wrist and elbow.”17.5]

[The employee was seen by PA Dana Richards on September 5, 2006, in a clinic visit to sign a pain management contract.  There is no mention of back pain, and the assessment at that time was “hand pain,” with the treatment plan to continue medications of Valium, Darvocet N, Percocet, and Effexor.  PA Richards recited that the employee “does not need med refills today – but may need Percocet a bit earlier due to planned dental surgery.”17.6]

[On September 7, 2006, the employee made two separate visits to the Emergency Department of Bartlett Regional Hospital, with complaints of migraine headaches, depression and crying, stating that she was placed on five days suspension on September 6, 2006.  There is no reference of complaints of back pain in the records of these visits, only “arthritis in hands.”17.7

[On September 12, 2006, the employee was seen by PA Richards, without recordation of complaints of back pain, who diagnosed arthritis NOS and depression.  PA Richards switched the employee from Effexor to Cymbalta, and started a prescription of Restoril, while continuing the Darvocet N, Valium and Percocet.17.8]
[On September 14, 2006, the employee called PA Richards, seeking a refill of Percocet due to a tooth extraction the following day.  PA Richards wrote a prescription for 30 Percocet.  On that same day, PA Richards’ office charted that the employee called again to report that she had been suspended for an additional 10 days from work, without a reason given for the suspension.17.9]

There is no recording of report of back pain when the employee was seen by
Dr. John Bursell for electric diagnostic studies on September 15, 2006.  [Dr. Bursell reported normal conduction responses of the right median and ulnar motor nerves, noting positive Tinel’s sign on the right wrist, and positive Phalens test bilaterally].
 

On September 18, 2006, PA Richards charted returning a call from oral surgeon
Eric Paulson, DDS, who quoted the employee as asking for Percocet, and that “I have a few percocet left.”  PA Richards charted, “hopefully more than a few. . . he is NOT giving her pain medication – pt. [patient] will call here prn [as needed].”  The next day, September 19, 2006 – only five days after receiving 30 Percocet on September 15 –  the employee called PA Richards’ office to request a prescription for Percocet because her mother just had a stroke “down south.”  PA Richards provided the prescription as requested, with the chart note, “please ask the patient to guard these rx’s – lost or stolen meds won’t be refilled early.”18.1  

[On September 21, 2006, the employee called PA Richards requesting 60 Valium tablets, rather than the 30 prescribed, and also another prescription for Darvocet.  PA Richards noted: “I gave her 90 Darvocet a little over a week ago (9/12) and an extra 30 Valium should last an extra month.  I don’t feel comfortable prescribing any more at this time.”  However, PA Richards provided the extra Valium as requested.18.2]

On September 22, 2006, in an intake psychiatric evaluation, Dr. Heidi Lopez-Coonjohn, a psychiatrist, charted the employee’s report of difficulty sleeping, describes the moving of equipment at the job, and describes “lower back pain since the move, and she has also had right wrist pain radiating into her elbow and shoulder.”

[On October 12, 2006, Dr. Dostal charted separate telephone conversation with PA Richards and the employee, suggesting anti-inflammatory medication given the employee’s complaints of stiffness and pain in multiple joints of the upper extremities.  Again, no complaints of back pain were charted.19.1  Also on October 12, 2006, PA Richards first charted the employee’s report of back pain following the workplace activity of moving equipment and files back in August 2006.  PA Richards also charted for the first time a complaint of psoriatic rash on knees and elbows.  PA Richards noted:

Pt asked to bring in her pills – she has 15 valium left, no oxycodone and can’t find her darvocet.  Then she states that she is out of it and may have tossed the bottle. * * *  I am concerned about the possibility of psoriatic arthritis19.2 in this patient.  Today is the first time she’s mentioned the rash.  I think she may benefit with a rheumatoid work up and this was discussed with the patient.  I am also concerned that the patient can not produce the medications she’s been prescribed as the pain contract describes.  Will ask for a urine drug screen today and for the patient to produce the Darvocet.  If she is unable then she is in violation of the pain contract and no further pain meds will be prescribed.19.3]

[The employee called on October 12, 2006, apparently after the preceding notation was made, requesting additional Darvocet and unable to find her bottle, and “also was not enough urine for testing.”  PA Richards advised the employee that she was being discharged as a patient for failing to comply with the pain management contract, would be given thirty more days’ of medication and “asked that she consult with another provider for future care.”19.4]

The employee appears then to have transferred primary care to the Juneau Urgent Care clinic.  On October 17, 2006, a physician at Juneau Urgent Care released the employee from work due to the complaints of [hand and] back pain.
  On October 24, 2006, the employee was examined by Dr. Bursell, complaining of back pain radiating to the right lower leg. Dr. Bursell noted that the employee was to start physical therapy, and that if her back pain did not improve within four weeks, that a MRI would be ordered.

The medical records document that the employee reported falling on a slippery dock (the employee lives on a boat at a harbor in Juneau) on October 30, 2006, with sufficient sequellae that she cancelled a wrist physical therapy appointment scheduled for that day,
 and the employee also reported that she may have injured her back either while helping pack up belongings of her deceased mother,
 or while lugging four heavy suitcases and sitting on an airplane in Sitka for four hours on return from her mother’s memorial service.
  The airplane trip with heavy luggage appears to have occurred on or about November 6, 2006.
  

On November 7, 2006, the employee reported pain radiating into her right buttock and down her left leg, as well as an increase in pain in her right wrist.
  MRI of both the employee’s right wrist
 and her lumbar spine indicate significant anomalies. The lumbar spine MRI, performed November 7, 2006, revealed central disc protrusion encroaching upon the anterior CSF space and central canal stenosis at L3-4, broad-based focal disc bulge eccentric to the right extending into the neural foraminal area and evidence of annular tear at L4-5, and central disc protrusion (also eccentric to the right) with evidence of annular tear with encroachment of the axillary recess region and descending S1 nerve root on the right side.
  The right wrist MRI, performed November 8, 2006,
 found significant subchondral edema of the CMC joints and scaphotrapezoidal joint degeneration, attributed to advanced osteoarthritis.
  

[On December 1, 2006, Dr. Bursell examined the employee for her complaints of low back pain radiating into the right buttock, noting normal deep tendon reflexes and muscular strength in the lower extremities bilaterally, with a negative right straight leg raise.]
  The employee underwent an epidural steroid injection at L3-4 in her lower back on December 18, 2006.
  Although the frequency of medical records declines sharply after the employer’s December 22, 2006 controversion, the employee’s hand and back pain continued despite these injections.

The employee’s physician, Greg Matera, MD, has opined that:

the above patient’s serious health condition commenced 8/23/06. Probable duration of condition is uncertain/unknown at this time pending response to treatment and further evaluation by specialist. Appropriate medical facts include MRI scans of injured areas that document pathologic changes. Patient not capable of performing duties required by her job pending resolution of these medical issues.

The employee’s former treating provider [Dana Richards, PA] wrote a letter, to support the employee’s application for Social Security disability benefits, noting the employee’s report of increased hand pain secondary to “working in a classroom in August” and noting “the patient does have a history of depression related to work activities and had been in treatment for that with medication.”  [PA Richards did not mention back pain in her letter.]
  This same provider, in a Physician’s Report filed with the Board, stated that it was “undetermined” whether the employee’s condition was work related.
  Treating psychiatrist
Dr. Lopez-Coonjohn clearly ascribes psychiatric conditions of depression and anxiety as secondary to work-related stress.
  [Dr. Dostal expressly disavowed ever releasing the employee from work based on her complaints of hand pain,37.1 and after December 27, 2006 declined to treat the employee further.37.2]

The employee was examined by Patrick L. Radecki, MD on December 8, 2006. After this examination and review of the employee’s medical records,
Dr. Radecki opined that at most, the employee experienced a temporary aggravation of her pre-existing severe degenerative joint disease of the CMC joint of each thumb, and that the two post-employment episodes of slipping on a boat dock, carrying heavy luggage, and the long airplane sit were greater factors in the employee’s current complaints of low back pain radiating into her right leg than the employee’s report of carrying computer monitors, files in milk crates, and computer back-up batteries in late August 2006. Dr. Radecki found the employee medically stable with no work-related impairment.
  Dr. Radecki’s report did not address any mental health issues relating to the employee’s claim for workers’ compensation benefits.
 

The employee continued to treat with Juneau Urgent Care,
 and on April 30, 2007 was given authorization to return to light duty work, with “no lifting whatsoever” and other restrictions.
 

Following a hearing held on July 11, 2007, the parties stipulated to a board-ordered Second Independent Medical Examination (“SIME”) examination by a physical medicine and rehabilitation physician.
  The board selected a physician with this specialization, Judith Silverman, MD of San Francisco, from the board’s SIME list.
  Dr. Silverman examined the employee on September 19, 2007, and submitted a report that day.  Dr. Silverman’s diagnosis echoed that of Dr. Radecki, with the addition of “chronic opiate use with escalating doses without documentation of improvement in function,” and “possible autoimmune process. Consider form of scleraderma.”
   Dr. Silverman expressed the opinion that the employee’s current complaints of back pain were not aggravated by her work for the employer, noting the delay between ending work on August 23, 2006 and the first documented report of back pain to a medical provider on September 22, 2006 (to Dr. Lopez-Coonjohn, the employee’s treating psychiatrist).  Dr. Silverman noted the intervening examinations by ER physicians Drs. Brown and Thompson, Dr. Dostal, OT Lingle, PA Richards, and Dr. Bursell, all without charting of a complaint of low back pain.  Dr. Silverman opined: “I do feel that the degree of back pain progressed after the 9/22[06] first mention, and I do not feel that her current pain complaints can be substantiated from the work she was doing in August.”
  Dr. Silverman expressed the view that the employee’s work in August 2006 did not cause the employee’s current back pain complaints, that no period of disability was substantiated, and that “Ms. Bridges was suspended from work for issues unrelated to any medical condition.”  Dr. Silverman found no permanent impairment due to back pain as a result of the employee’s work with the employer, and so gave no impairment rating for injury to the back.

With regard to hand pain, Dr. Silverman opined that the employee may have experienced extensor tendinitis with evidence of tendon inflammation, based on the MRI study of November 2006, but that based on physical examination on September 19, 2007, that the tendinitis aspect of the employee’s pain complaints is resolved.  Dr. Silverman opined that the employee had an aggravation of her pre-existing CMC arthritis and developed the extensor tendon tendinitis as a result of her employment, which “could have been treated with splinting, ultrasound, and gentle stretching” and that, in her opinion, “I do not feel that the right hand complaints by themselves would have required Ms. Bridges to come off work on disability.”  Dr. Silverman opined that the exacerbation of the CMC arthritis was resolved by December 8, 2006 when the employee was examined by Dr. Radecki, that this pre-existing condition may require future treatment with corticosteroid injections, splinting, and hand surgeon consultation “on a non-industrial basis,” the tendonitis is not ratable, and that the CMC arthritis is not ratable as a pre-existing condition.
  

Dr. Silverman expressed concern with the employee’s depression and anxiety, combined with “chronic opiate use and seeing escalating doses of medications without documented changes in function with family history of alcohol abuse.”  Dr. Silverman also recommended a work-up for autoimmune disorders, citing noted signs and symptoms of diffuse pain, dental caries, perioral wrinkles, depression, and elevated blood platelet count.

There is no medical evidence in the record of the results of any workup for rheumatoid arthritis or other autoimmune disorder.

B.  Procedural History:

The insurer has filed a compensation report reciting that it has paid the employee $4,116.90 in temporary total disability (“TTD”) benefits at the rate of $411.69 per week (on gross weekly earnings of $634 per week, on a base hourly wage of $15.46 per hour
), for a disability period with onset of October 17, 2006 and an ending date of December 25, 2006.
  Based on a December 8, 2006 report, after an employer’s medical examination (“EME”) by Patrick L. Radecki, MD (report described below), the employer filed a controversion denying all benefits.
  

The employee filed her WCC on January 5, 2007, describing the part of body injured as “hand & back, ”
 seeking  TTD from “9-23-06 to unknown,” [sic], unspecified medical costs, unspecified transportation costs, and unfair/frivolous controversion.
  The employee also filed on January 5, 2007 a Request for Conference form.
  

By written notice dated January 10, 2007, a pre-hearing conference was noticed for February 8, 2007,
 but the employee did not appear for the conference.  The pre-hearing conference summary recited the two-year limit on bringing a claim to hearing after a controversion has been filed in response to the claim, and advised the parties that “[n]o further proceedings will be scheduled until or unless requested in writing.”
  The employer filed its Answer, denying all benefits, on January 24, 2007.
  

On April 9, 2007 the employee filed her Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing (“ARH”) on her January 4, 2007 WCC, requesting an oral hearing with no witnesses planned.
  By written notice dated April 13, 2007, a pre-hearing conference was scheduled for May 2, 2007.
  On April 19, 2007 the employer filed its Request for Cross-Examination of Mr. Dobson and Ms. Lunda, and an Affidavit of Opposition to the scheduling of a hearing on the merits of the WCC at that time.
  At the pre-hearing conference held on May 2, 2007, the parties stipulated to a hearing on the employee’s claim on July 11, 2007.  At this conference, the employee clarified that the date of injury was August 23, 2006.  The pre-hearing conference report recited that copies of the applicable regulations regarding hearings, legal memoranda, evidence and continuances were sent to the employee.
  The employer noticed the employee for a telephonic deposition on May 18, 2007.

The employer’s counsel wrote on May 8, 2007 to adamantly object to the PHC Summary’s recitation of a stipulated July 11, 2007 hearing date, stating the case was not ready to proceed, including noting the employee had not yet been deposed.
  On May 10, 2007, the employer petitioned for an SIME.
 

The employee was deposed by the employer on May 18, 2007.
   At deposition, the employee identified no other injury as a result of the work.
  The employee reported having been released to return to work on or about May 11, 2007, and that she sought to return to work, but the employer has not re-engaged the employee.

The employer filed its Affidavit of Readiness on its petition for an SIME on June 15, 2007, filing a second request for conference to resolve this pre-hearing issue.

The employer’s counsel flew to Juneau to attend the July 11, 2007 hearing in person.  The employee appeared in person, accompanied by Michael Dobson.  The board panel at that time was Robert Briggs, Patricia Vollendorf, and Richard Behrends.  Immediately prior to the commencement of the July 11, 2007 hearing in Juneau, the employee came to the offices of the Division and requested a complete copy of her file, which request was clarified at hearing to request a copy of just those portions of the board’s file that the employee had previously submitted.  The complete pleadings and memoranda on file up to that point in time, consisting of 84 pages of documents, were supplied at the beginning of the hearing to the employee by the board.
  The employee was advised on the record of the obligation to file a witness list and exhibit list prior to a hearing, to serve a copy on the opposing party of each document filed with the board, and to sign a certificate of service verifying such service.
  The employee objected to proceeding at the hearing, asserting that no staff were employed by the Division to provide her with assistance and advice as to her rights and remedies under the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act.  The employee argued that the examination by
Dr. Radecki was rushed, the EME paperwork was filled out by a secretary, and contains unsubstantiated assumptions.  The employee testified that the employer had denied her access to pension funds, and would not re-hire her even though her current physician had released her to light duty work.  The employee testified that she had applied for unemployment insurance benefits, but that the employer has asserted that the employee quit work on August 23, 2006.
  During the hearing, the parties agreed to an SIME and to a continuance of the hearing to an unspecified date, to be scheduled upon completion of the SIME.  Mr. Dobson was identified as a witness who would testify at the re-scheduled hearing.
  Mr. Smith renewed the employer’s request to cross-examine Ms. Lunda at any re-scheduled hearing.
 

The balance of the board’s file, consisting of all medical reports and medical records on file, were supplied to the employee under cover letter dated July 25, 2007.  The letters the employee had previously submitted were marked for identification as Exhibit 1, and supplied to the parties at the July 11 hearing, and later with the board’s July 25, 2007 letter.
  The SIME with Dr. Silverman was ordered , and the hearing on the employee’s WCC was continued to be rescheduled after receipt of Dr. Silverman’s report.
  

On August 22, 2007, a pre-hearing conference was held at which the SIME was calendared for September 19, 2007.  The procedures for developing the SIME binders was spelled out in a detailed pre-hearing conference summary.
  The employer filed an affidavit of service of the SIME binder of medical records, numbered 0001 through 0290, on August 23, 2007.

On September 5, 2007, the employee came to the office of the Division and had contact with the undersigned presiding officer of the panel, regarding the employee’s view that the SIME binder was incomplete.  The employee was supplied with another copy of the August 22, 2007 pre-hearing conference summary outlining the SIME procedures, and this pre-hearing summary as well as the board’s decision no. 07-0223 was reviewed with the employee, regarding SIME procedures.  The employee was informed that it would be substantially compliant with the board’s procedures for the employee to file copies of those medical records she felt should be considered by the SIME physician, not already contained in the SIME binder, without binding them as the summary suggested.  This ex parte contact was disclosed to the employer’s counsel in a letter, which also expressed to the parties the importance of having a complete medical record before the SIME physician.  In this letter, the employee was reminded that to the extent any records were already on file with the board, but missing from the SIME binder, she could augment the employer-prepared SIME binder from the complete copy of medical summaries and records given to the employee by the board under cover letter dated July 25, 2007.  The employee was also supplied with a list of attorneys that have, in the past, agreed to represent employees before the board.  Included on that list are two Juneau attorneys, Paul Hoffman and Tom Batchelor.
 

Dr. Silverman’s SIME report was issued on September 19, 2007.  A copy of that report  was sent to the employee on October 10, 2007.
  

On November 26, 2007, a written notice of scheduling of a pre-hearing conference was mailed to the parties.
  The pre-hearing conference was held on November 29, 2007, presided over by Betty Johnson, WCO.  The employee reported that she had been receiving Social Security Supplemental Security Income (“SSI”) since approximately April 2007, “for hand, back and emotional conditions, she states they are all related to the 8/7/06 work incident.”  The employee “advises that she may want to get legal counsel.  If so, wants to set hearing date off far enough into the future to allow attorney to review her case.”  The parties discussed the need for the employee to document her claimed medical and transportation expenses.  The summary noted a “tentative hearing date set for April 8, 2008,” with the issues defined as the employee’s 1/4/07 WCC for TTD, 8/25/07 to present; medical costs, unspecified; transportation costs, unspecified; reemployment benefits – eligibility determination; and claim of unfair and frivolous controversion.

A notice of the April 8, 2008 hearing was served on March 27, 2008, noting the matter was #4 on the list of cases to be heard.
  The employer filed and served its witness list on March 10, 2008,
 and its pre-hearing brief with supporting exhibits on March 31, 2008.
   On April 2, 2008, the presiding officer called the parties to remind them of the upcoming hearing, and to advise of the approximate start time of 11:00 am based on the state of the Juneau docket at that time.
  On 
April 7, 2008, the parties were telephoned again to advise that, due to a development in one of the preceding cases, this case had been moved up to #2 on the Juneau docket, and that hearing would likely start a half-hour earlier at 10:30 am; during the conversation with the employee, she advised that attorney Tom Batchelor had agreed to represent the employee.  When the presiding hearing officer called to confirm this with Mr. Batchelor, Mr. Batchelor could not recall Ms. Bridges’ name, denied having agreed to represent her, and stated she may have an intake/release package to sign and submit to Mr. Batchelor for him to evaluate the case.  On re-calling Ms. Bridges, she confirmed what Mr. Batchelor had said.  A second time, the hearing was confirmed to commence at 10:30 am on April 8, 2008.
  

The employee, acting pro se, filed no witness list, no additional exhibits, and no pre-hearing brief or legal memorandum prior to the April 8, 2008 hearing.  

The Southeast board panel, consisting of Michael Notar and Robert Briggs,
 convened on
April 8, 2008 at 10:30 am to hear this case.  The employer’s counsel appeared, having flown again from Anchorage to attend in person.  The employee appeared, again with Michael Dobson, whom the employee indicated would be called as a witness.  Board panelist Michael Notar disclosed that he was not at all acquainted with the employee, but that he had prior contact and a potential conflict of interest, as to Mr. Dobson, because he had known Mr. Dobson for 25 years, and that both he and Mr. Dobson are members of the same union for at least 13 years (the same union for which Mr. Notar is now a business agent).  Mr. Notar expressed the view that despite this past relationship, he felt he could be fair and impartial to the parties, unless one of them objected.  Employer’s counsel objected, and Mr. Notar recused himself, depriving the panel of a quorum.

The employee made a verbal motion for a continuance, stating that she had requested Paul Hoffman to represent her, and Mr. Hoffman had informed her of his decision declining representation only two weeks before the hearing.
  Mr. Dobson (who had been sworn as a witness) stated that
Mr. Hoffman had held the employee’s files for approximately 6 weeks.
   After a recess in order to convene a new panel with a quorum, the presiding chairman announced that a quorum would be convened later in the day on April 8, 2008, at 3:00 pm, with Anchorage panelists Patricia Vollendorf and Robert Weel joining by telephone.  Ms. Bridges argued for a longer continuance, as she felt she needed more time to seek other legal counsel.  Ms. Bridges testified that the employee did not know about the Alaska workers’ compensation statutes and board regulations that required an employer to pay the attorney’s fee of a successful claimant, until a pre-hearing conference with Betty Johnson, WCO.
  The record shows that the only pre-hearing conference in which
Ms. Johnson presided was held on November 29, 2007, at which Ms. Bridges requested a hearing date with sufficient time for her to obtain attorney representation.
   

Mr. Dobson argued against a continuance to 3:00 pm, as he had previously scheduled work on a boat during the afternoon on April 8, and he would be unable to attend the hearing if it was continued to 3:00 pm.  Mr. Dobson expressed the view that a continuance to 3:00 pm was unfair and intended to push the hearing forward without the employee being represented by an attorney.  The employer’s counsel, on the other hand, objected to further continuance beyond April 8, as he had now twice expended client funds to travel to Juneau to attend a duly-noticed hearing on the merits of the employee’s claim, was otherwise prepared to proceed, and wanted to have the hearing proceed.
  Over the employee’s objection, the board ordered the matter continued to later that day, 3:00 pm on April 8, 2008.

At approximately 12:38 pm on April 8, the employee called the offices of the Division asking to speak with the presiding officer of the board panel, who was then engaged with another hearing.  The employee stated that she had been to attorney Tom Batchelor’s office, and was told it would take several weeks to review the file to decide whether to represent.  The employee again verbally requested a continuance.  The employee was advised that she should return to the hearing room at 3:00 pm as previously scheduled.

The hearing on the employee’s claim re-convened at 3:38 pm, the preceding hearing having taken longer than scheduled.
  The employee, Mr. Dobson, and employer’s counsel all appeared.  The employee again requested a continuance on the ground that she was seeking legal representation by Tom Batchelor, and repeated that it would take several weeks for Mr. Batchelor to decide whether to represent.  The employee again argued that she did not know about how employees’ attorneys fees are paid until she was informed by WCO Betty Johnson at a pre-hearing conference.

The employee stated at the continued afternoon hearing on April 8, 2008 that she was not ready to proceed, as she had left all of her documents and files at Mr. Batchelor’s office.
  Mr. Batchelor, who was physically present (having been involved in the immediately preceding hearing), did not enter an appearance on behalf of the employee.  Employer’s counsel wished to proceed, and objected to further continuance.  The parties and the presiding officer reviewed the grounds for continuance under 8 AAC 45.074.  Finding no grounds for continuance under that regulation, the presiding officer ordered the hearing to proceed over the employee’s objection.
  

The employer objected to any witnesses testifying for the employee, as no witness list had been filed by the employee.  This objection was overruled.  The employee testified, and also Mr. Dobson, having previously been identified at the July 11, 2007 hearing as a likely witness, was permitted to testify.  No new exhibits were offered into evidence.  The employer objected to admission of the letter by Ms. Lunda (Exhibit 1, page 3) on ground that Ms. Lunda had not been produced for cross-examination, pursuant to the employer’s April 17, 2007 request for cross-examination, which had been renewed on the record at the July 11, 2007 hearing.
  The board initially sustained the employer’s objection based on the employer’s request to cross-examine Ms. Lunda, but then changed its ruling and overruled the employer’s objection, and admitted Ms. Lunda’s statement despite the employer’s Smallwood injection.100
C.  Summary of testimony at hearing and argument of the parties:

As she had at the July 11, 2007 hearing, the employee testified and argued that Dr. Radecki’s examination was perfunctory and, she felt, biased.  The employee testified that she had pre-existing arthritis in the joints of the thumbs of both hands, and that the pain in her hands was made worse by the moving.  During this testimony at hearing, for the first time the employee she also asserted that she moved refrigerators during the move in August 2006.101  The employee testified that she had never experienced back pain before the August 2006 moving episode at work, and had lived a robust, active outdoor lifestyle that included accompanying her partner on wildlife photography boat tours, skydiving and regular exercise at the gym, a lifestyle she could no longer pursue because of her back and hand pain.  The employee testified that she led a multi-day wilderness snowshoe trip for clients of the employer, carrying a backpack, in approximately winter 2003 or 2004.  The employee testified that she did mention her back problems to medical providers after the date of injury, August 23, 2006.   The employee testified that the October 30, 2006 episode on the dock was not a “fall,” but a slip in which she caught herself.  The employee testified that she has been evaluated for rheumatoid arthritis, and that it was “ruled out.”102
The employee testified that the medical record in the board’s file was not complete, and that she would like to have the record kept open for her to augment the record with the allegedly missing medical records.  The employee identified no specific “missing” medical record.  The employer objected to keeping the record open to accept any additional medical records, the employee having been given several prompts to augment the record.103
Mr. Dobson testified that he has known the employee since February 14, 2002, and that he and the employee are not co-habitants but are significant others,104 each occupying different boats at a Juneau boat harbor.  Mr. Dobson testified that the employee led a week-long snow shoe trip in March of either 2003 or 2004, he was not sure which, and expressed no back pain after that trip.   Mr. Dobson testified that if anything would have strained the employee’s back, that winter trip would have. 105  

The employer argued that no doctor had opined, before October 12, 2006, that workplace conditions caused any injury to the employee, noting that hand specialist Dr. Dostal specifically disavowed ever releasing the employee from working.  The employer also argued, citing Dr. Radecki’s and
Dr. Silverman’s reports, as well as the medical records for the time period, that the employee made no reports of back pain to several medical providers who examined the employee between
August 23, 2006 and September 22, 2006.  Thus, the employer argued, the employee voluntarily ceased employment with the employer on and after August 2006, and any complaints of back pain arose after the employee had voluntarily ceased employment with the employer.  The employer argued that the board should adopt the findings of the Drs. Silverman and Radecki that any exacerbation of hand pain due to the moving that occurred in August 2006 had resolved by December 8, 2006, and since no doctor released the employee from work until October 12, 2006, that any TTD benefits based on hand pain were payable only for the time period of October 12, 2006 to December 8, 2006, at the most.  Thus the employer argued no further TTD benefits were payable.  The employer argued that no documentation by the employee as to medical expenses or transportation expenses had been submitted by the employee to either the employer, its insurer, its counsel, or to the board, and therefore this aspect of the claim should be denied on a failure of proof.  As to the claim for an eligibility evaluation for re-employment benefits, the employer argued that there was no medical evidence of permanent impairment as a result of workplace conditions, and therefore there was no entitlement to any benefits under AS 23.30.041.  As to the claim for unfair and frivolous controversion, the employer argued that its controversion was based on Dr. Radecki’s EME, which was agreed with by Dr. Silverman in her SIME, and therefore the employer’s controversion was not unfair or frivolous as a matter of fact and law.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I.   Employee’s request for a continuance:

AS 23.30.110(c) provides, in pertinent part:

. . . After a hearing has been scheduled, the parties may not stipulate to change the hearing date or to cancel, postpone, or continue the hearing, except for good cause as determined by the board. . . .

AS 23.30.135(a) provides, in part:

In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearings in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . . . 

Under the board’s regulations at 8 AAC 45.070(a): “A hearing may be adjourned, postponed, or continued from time to time and from place to place at the discretion of the board or its designee, and in accordance with this chapter. . . .”  The board’s regulation governing continuances, 
8 AAC 45.074, reminds that continuances or cancellations are not favored and are not routinely granted.  It provides, in pertinent part:

(b) Continuances or cancellations are not favored by the board and will not be routinely granted.  A hearing may be continued or cancelled only for good cause and in accordance with this section.  For purposes of this subsection:

(1) Good cause exists only when:               

(A)
a material witness is unavailable on the scheduled date and the taking of the deposition of the witness is not feasible;

(B) 
a party or representative of a party is unavailable because of an unintended and unavoidable court appearance;

* * *

(D) 
a party, a representative of a party, or a material witness becomes unexpectedly absent from the hearing venue and cannot participate telephonically;

                   * * * 

(H)  the board is not able to complete the hearing on the scheduled hearing date due to the length of time required to hear the case or other cases scheduled on that same day, the lack of a quorum of the board, or malfunctioning of equipment required for recording the hearing or taking evidence; 

(I) the Board determines that despite a party’s due diligence in completing discovery before requesting a hearing and despite a party’s good faith belief that the party was fully prepared for the hearing, evidence was obtained by the opposing party after the request for hearing was filed which is or will be offered at the hearing and due process required the party requesting the hearing be given an opportunity to obtain rebuttal evidence;

             * * *

(L) the board determines that despite a party’s due diligence, irreparable harm may result from a failure to grant the requested continuance or cancel the hearing.
The board found that, on the morning of the hearing date of April 8, 2008, it lacked a quorum to proceed, but would have a quorum later that afternoon.  The employee is on SSI benefits, unemployed, and therefore was available for a hearing continued to the afternoon.  Employer’s counsel had flown from Anchorage to Juneau to attend the hearing in person, objected to a greater continuance than to later on the afternoon of April 8, 2008.  Mr. Dobson’s expressed inability to attend the hearing in the afternoon due to scheduled work on a boat.  The board reasoned that, to the extent Mr. Dobson was unavailable for a continued hearing later that day, the record could be left open to receive Mr. Dobson’s testimony at a later date.  Mr. Dobson was not a representative, and Mr. Batchelor had not filed an entry of appearance as a representative.  The board therefore found lack of grounds for continuance under either 8 AAC 45.074(b)(1)(A),
 (B), or (D).  Continuance was ordered under 8 AAC 45.074(b)(1)(H).  

In arguing for a longer continuance so that she could continue her search for an attorney, the employee did not describe when she first asked Mr. Hoffman to represent her.  Mr. Dobson testified that the employee’s files were held by Mr. Hoffman for six weeks, and that 
Mr. Hoffman did not inform of his decision to decline to represent until approximately two weeks before the April 8, 2008 hearing.  Based on this evidence, the board finds that
Mr. Hoffman was supplied with the employee’s records on or about February 5, 2008, approximately six (6) months after the employee had received a full copy of her workers’ compensation file from the board, five (5) months after receiving a lawyer referral list, and three (3) months after the employee testified she first learned (from WCO Johnson) that she might be able to obtain free attorney representation.  The board finds the employee did not exercise due diligence in seeking attorney representation under these circumstances.

The evidence showed that the employee first asked Mr. Batchelor for representation only a week before the hearing; the employee misrepresented (or at least was grossly mistaken) when she told the presiding officer that Mr. Batchelor had agreed to represent her.  In fact, Mr. Batchelor had not agreed to represent and would need several weeks to review the record of the case.  The board finds that the employee had more than a year from the filing of her claim to find an attorney to represent her, including the time period from September 2007 to April 2008 after she was supplied a list of attorneys by the board.  The board finds that the employee is sophisticated, understands the English language, and is fully capable of comprehending the applicable statutes and regulations.  The board finds that the employee was informed by the Division of applicable statutes and regulations, including those relating to attorney representation, and that the April 8, 2008 hearing was scheduled with sufficient time for the employee to obtain attorney representation on a claim filed in January 2007, for which the employee filed an ARH in April 2007, by a pre-hearing conference held on November 29, 2007.  The board found at the hearing, and on further review of the record continues to find, that the employee did not demonstrate at the hearing the exercise of due diligence in her seeking attorney representation, and therefore good cause did not exist to grant a continuance under 8 AAC 45.074(b)(1)(L).

In addition, the board notes the medical record shows evidence of drug-seeking behavior, with episodes of claims of lost and stolen prescription medications, and a medical provider’s having terminated services with the employee due to that provider’s view that the employee had violated a pain contract.  Two of the board panelists had the opportunity to observe the employee’s demeanor at two different hearings,
 as well as the ex parte contacts initiated by the employee.  Given all of the circumstances of this case, the board finds that it is highly unlikely that the employee will be successful in obtaining attorney representation in this matter, given the employee’s admitted indigence, the contingent fee nature of representation that is mandated by the Act, and the apparent weaknesses in the employee’s case as to claims of back pain.

The employee’s failure to bring her materials with her to the afternoon hearing as continued, the board found, was intended to manipulate the board into granting a further continuance after its initial indication to proceed with the hearing in the afternoon.  The board found this failure by the employee to be prepared also was a lack of due diligence, and therefore ground did not exist under 8 AAC 45.074(b)(1)(L).  The board found the employer’s due process rights would be violated if the employee’s request for a continuance beyond April 8, 2008 on the pending hearing were granted.

Finally, a continuance would delay entry of an order for any additional benefits the employee may be entitled to, which is not in the employee’s interest, either.  The board found, and on further review of the record continues to find, that the employee’s request for a further continuance is not supported by good cause.  Therefore, the continuance was denied, and the board ordered the hearing to proceed.

II.  Employee’s claim for TTD:

Where employment causes an injury or aggravates, accelerates or combines with a pre-existing condition to cause a disability, the injury is compensable and the employee is entitled to compensation and benefits.
  For an injury to be compensable, the employment must be “the” substantial factor in bringing about the disability.

The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act (“the Act”) affords an injured worker the presumption that the benefits sought are compensable.
  However, the evidence needed to raise the presumption of compensability varies depending on the type of claim.  In cases with highly complicated medical issues, medical evidence is often necessary to raise the presumption.
  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to establish causation.
  The employee need only adduce “minimal” relevant evidence
 establishing a “preliminary link” between the injury claimed and employment,
 or between a work-related injury and the existence of the disability.

The application of the presumption involves a three-step analysis.
  First, the employee must establish a "preliminary link" between the disability and his or her employment. Second, once the preliminary link is established, it is the employer's burden to overcome the presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence that the injury was not work related.
 Because the presumption shifts only the burden of production to the employer, and not the burden of proof, the board examines the employer’s evidence in isolation.
 

There are two possible ways for an employer to overcome the presumption: (1) produce substantial evidence that provides an alternative explanation which, if accepted, would exclude work-related factors as the substantial cause of the disability, or (2) directly eliminate any reasonable possibility that the employment was a factor in the disability.
  The board defers questions of credibility and  weight of the employer's evidence until after it has decided whether the employer has produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption that the employee’s injury entitles her to compensation benefits.
  

The third step of the presumption analysis provides that, if the employer produces substantial evidence that the injury is not work-related, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of her case by a preponderance of the evidence.
  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must "induce a belief" in the mind of the trier of fact that the asserted facts are probably true.
  We apply the standard of whether employment is “the substantial cause” of the employee’s claim for benefits based on disability, death or need for medical treatment at this third stage of analysis,
 which legal precedent elaborates is interpreted as “the substantial cause of the disability in relation to other causes.”

A.  The board finds additional TTD benefits payable for the period of August 23, 2006 to 

October 16, 2006 based on the employee’s claim of injury to her hands:

Applying the presumption analysis set forth above, the board does not weigh the credibility of the testimony during the first and second stages of the analysis, and reviews the evidence supporting each party in isolation.
  

The employee has requested TTD benefits from August 23, 2006
 and continuing, while also pointing out that a treating physician has released the employee to light duty work as of April 30, 2007.  ANP Brewster, the employee’s attending medical provider, expressed the opinion that the employee was capable of returning to work, albeit light duty work with a lifting and other restrictions, on April 30, 2007.  The employee has presented no medical evidence contradicting this opinion, and in her deposition indicated that she agreed with the opinion sufficient to adopt it as her own.
  Therefore, the board relies on Nurse Practitioner Brewster’s opinion that the employee’s temporary disability ended with the employee’s ability to return to work as of April 30, 2007.

The employer paid TTD to the employee for the time period of October 17, 2006 to December 25, 2006.  The board finds therefore that there are two periods of TTD in dispute in this case: (1) for the time period of August 23, 2006 to October 16, 2006, and (2) for the time period of
December 26, 2006 to April 29, 2007. 

The testimony of the employee and Mr. Dobson,
 and the opinions expressed by PA Richards,
 as well as ANP Brewster, Drs. Matera, Perez and Bautista at Juneau Urgent Care appear to opine that the employee’s hand pain and subsequent treatment was work-related and disabling.  The treatment for reports of continuing hand pain, after work activities for the employer, is documented to commence on August 25, 2006; the Juneau Urgent Care (“JUC”) providers opine work-relatedness until January 25, 2007, with continuing treatment documented until a light duty work release with restrictions was issued on April 30, 2007.
  

We note that Dr. Dostal disavowed any opinion that the employee was incapable of working due to hand pain, but at the first stage of the compensability analysis we do not weigh the opinions of different witnesses.  Instead, we look to see if more than a mere scintilla supports the employee’s claim.  The employee’s report of hand pain, her seeking and obtaining treatment for that pain, her lack of return to work, and her later providers’ opinions of a period of disability, we find, are sufficient to meet this minimal standard at the first stage of the compensability analysis.

At the second stage of the compensability analysis, the employer must adduce evidence that either provides an alternative explanation which would exclude work conditions as a cause of the employee’s disability, or directly eliminate any reasonable possibility of workplace conditions as a factor in the employee’s disability.  At this stage, as in the first, we examine evidence in isolation without weighing credibility.  We find that the employer has met this evidentiary burden based on the opinions of EME Dr. Radecki and SIME Dr. Silverman.  Dr. Radecki opined that the “minor work activities . . . would not have caused any aggravation of her thumb regions.”  Dr. Radecki also opined that the pain in the employee’s thumbs was the result of a pre-existing condition, and that there was no objective evidence that the employee’s description of pain would not have existed regardless of workplace conditions.  Both Dr. Radecki and Dr. Silverman also opined, based on
Dr. Radecki’s physical examination on December 8, 2006, that if there had been an exacerbation, it was temporary and had resolved by that date, based on physical exam showing full range of motion and stronger grip strength on the right as opposed to left hand.  These opinions establish the alternative explanation that any continuing complaints of hand pain after December 8, 2006 were the result of the underlying, pre-existing arthralgia, or injury after the employee stopped working for the employer, and not workplace conditions for which the employee’s last exposure was August 23, 2006.  

At the third stage of the compensability analysis, the burden shifts to the employee to establish disability and work-connectedness by a preponderance of the evidence.  Here we compare and weigh the evidence.  The record refutes the employer’s argument that there is a lack of objective medical evidence attributing the report of increased hand pain to work conditions, for the time period of August 23, 2006 to October 12, 2006.  On the contrary, Dr. Silverman opined that workplace conditions likely exacerbated the employee’s pre-existing hand arthritis, and caused extensor tendonitis that was documented in the November 8, 2006 wrist MRI.
  Dr. Silverman opined that this tendinitis likely resolved by December 8, 2006 based on Dr. Radecki’s evaluation of full range of motion and greater pinch strength on right thumb as compared to the left.

We reject Dr. Radecki’s opinion of lack of objective evidence of exacerbation of hand pain, which was founded on an analysis of Dr. Dostal’s 4-month cycle of steroid injections.  Dr. Radecki boot-strapped Dr. Dostal’s September 1, 2006 clinical decision, that a fifth injection would not be clinically helpful, into a finding that the employee’s level of pain was no greater than it would have been in the absence of the workplace conditions in August 2006.  The medical record shows the employee was expressing greater levels of pain, and on examination, objective signs were observed that confirmed these complaints of pain.
  The employee sought and received treatment for her hand pain, including x-ray examination, hand splints, and pain medications.  The board finds that a preponderance of the evidence, including the testimony of the employee, Mr. Dobson,
Dr. Silverman’s report, and the medical records, that workplace conditions in late August 2006 were the substantial cause of the employee’s increased hand pain, and that the employee has established entitlement to TTD benefits, for the time period of August 23, 2006 to October 16, 2006.

As to the time period of December 8, 2006 to April 30, 2007, taking into consideration the credibility of the witnesses who testified as well as the medical record, the board finds that the preponderance of the evidence supports the conclusions of Dr. Radecki and Dr. Silverman that the employee’s exacerbated hand pain had responded to pharmacotherapy, steroid injection, rest, splinting and physical therapy, such that the employee’s hands reached a baseline, pre-existing state as of December 8, 2006.  We find the employee has not shown by a preponderance of the evidence that workplace conditions were the substantial cause of the employee’s continuing complaints of hand pain after December 8, 2006, and therefore the employee has failed to show an entitlement to further TTD benefits after December 8, 2006 due to work-caused injury to her right hand.

The board noted the opinions of the providers at the Juneau Urgent Care, whose spartan documentation does not differentiate between the employee’s back pain, hand pain, and emotional condition, in expressing work-relatedness of the employee’s “condition.”  But even the Juneau Urgent Care records stop opining work-relatedness on and after January 25, 2007.  At best, the board finds those opinions of Juneau Urgent Care providers, taken together with the other medical evidence, after December 8, 2007 support only a claim for continuing back pain and emotional conditions, and then only through the time period of December 8, 2006 to January 25, 2007.  As to the employee’s hand complaints, the board finds that the preponderance of the evidence shows that the temporary exacerbation of the employee’s symptoms had resolved by the time of Dr. Radecki’s examination of the employee on December 8, 2006.

The board therefore finds the employee was entitled to a total of 15 weeks of TTD benefits;
  the employee has received ten weeks of benefits.
  At the employee’s weekly compensation rate of $411.69, the employee is entitled to an award of an additional $2,058.45, plus interest calculated under AS 23.30.155(p) and 8 AAC 45.142.

B.  The board finds the employee’s back condition is not work-related:

As to the employee’s claim based on back pain, the employee’s and Mr. Dobson’s testimony, Ms. Lunda’s statement,
 and the medical evidence
 provides sufficient evidence for the employee to meet the initial burden of proof at the first stage of the compensability analysis.  Again, at this stage, the employee must show more than a scintilla of evidence supporting causation, and we do not weigh the conflicting evidence or assess credibility.

The employer, through the reports of Drs. Radecki and Silverman,
 as well as the absence of reports of complaints of back pain to medical providers between August 23, 2006 until
September 22, 2006, and the medical record documenting other modes of injury to the employee’s back establish an alternative explanation for the employee’s complaints of back pain.  We find the employer has met its burden of proof at the second stage of the compensability analysis to refute causation and liability for the employee’s complaints of back pain.  The burden then shifts to the employee to establish by the preponderance of the evidence that her back pain condition is work-related.

At the third stage of the compensability analysis, taking into consideration the credibility of the witnesses and evaluating all of the evidence, the board finds that the preponderance of the evidence shows that workplace conditions are not the substantial cause of the employee’s complaints of back pain.  Most important, the board notes the employee, who had received repeated and frequent medical attention both before and after the asserted dates of injury during the three days preceding the inception of the 2006-2007 academic year, was not recorded as complaining of back pain in a total of twelve (12) medical chart notes between August 25, 2006 and September 22, 2006: three visits and one phone call with Dr. Dostal; an intake appointment with OT Lingle; two examinations by separate Emergency Room physicians Dr. Ken Brown and Dr. Jim Thompson on September 7, 2006 (and the intake nurses charting the complaints for those ER visits); two visits on September 5 and 12, 2006 and three phone calls (September 14, 19 and 21, 2006) with the employee’s primary care provider PA Dana Richards (or her office); and a September 15, 2006 examination and electrodiagnostic study by Dr. Bursell.  All of these charted services were associated with complaints of pain and administration of narcotic and other pain relievers, yet none of these chart notes and medical records make any mention of any complaint of back pain.  The board finds it incredible for so many of these providers to failed to chart a report of back pain, if it had been made, in the context of the constellation of the employee’s pain complaints.  The board finds the employee’s testimony on cross-examination that she reported her back pain to these providers, and that the providers must just have failed to record her reports of back pain,
 is not credible.  The board finds the employee was precise when it served her purpose (such as recalling during her deposition the purpose of prescription of Effexor), but less precise when it does not serve her purpose (such as failing to identify a single missing medical record in the SIME binder, while making a general assertion of “missing” medical records).  The board finds that the employee failed to report back pain to her medical providers during the time period of August 25, 2006 to September 22, 2006.

The board acknowledges that the employee reported back pain on her August 28, 2006 injury report, and mentioned back pain on September 22, 2006 (to psychiatrist Dr. Lopez-Coonjohn), on October 12, 2006 (to PA Richards), on October 17, 2006 (to JUC physician Dr. Perez),
on October 24, 2006 (to Dr. Bursell), and on October 25, 2006 (to PT Lucrecia Mervine), all before the October 30, 2006 episode of a slip (but not fall) on an icy dock.  Some of these reports overlap with a trip the employee took to attend to her mother.  The records establish that this first trip to attend to her mother, who subsequently died, took place sometime between September 23, 2006 and
October 6, 2006.
  However, ultimately the board does not find the employee’s testimony and assertions about back pain credible, until after the slip event on the dock on October 30, 2006.  The medical records establish that the employee reported an “escalation of her discomfort” after her second trip out of Juneau, between November 2, 2006 and November 6, 2006,
 to attend her mother’s memorial service, which involved a long sit on an airplane and carrying of heavy luggage.
  

The board finds that this evidence of a trip to attend to the employee’s mother between
September 23 – October 6, 2006, of a slip and fall on October 30, 2006, and then of travel to a memorial service between November 2 – 6, 2006, followed by complaints of escalated back pain sufficient to induce the employee to go to the Emergency Department on November 7, 2006, when compared to the lack of complaints of back pain to the same providers prescribing the employee significant amounts of narcotic and other pain relievers during the time period of August 23, 2006 to October 12, 2006
 support the employer’s case that workplace conditions were not the substantial cause of the employee’s back symptoms that were confirmed by lumbar MRI on November 7, 2006.  We find that the preponderance of the evidence shows that other, non-work-related events contributed more significantly to the employee’s current back condition than the alleged (but not medically reported or documented) back pain complaints surrounding the work place move in late August 2006.  

A physician must depend upon the patient’s candor and honesty as to reports of pain, and activities leading up to that pain, in forming opinions as to causation.  Because we find the employee’s testimony that she reported back pain following the episodes at work of moving files and computer equipment is not credible, in light of the documented failure to report it in the time period of
August 25, 2006 to September 22, 2006, we therefore discount and give little weight to the employee’s later medical providers’ (Drs. Bursell, Matera, Perez; NP Brewster) opinions as to workplace causation, because they depended on the employee’s truthful report as to the timing of the onset of back pain.
  We find that while there is objective evidence to support the employee’s current reports of back pain, the preponderance of the evidence shows that the workplace conditions were not “the substantial cause” of the employee’s current back complaints, but instead we find that non-occupational events occurred after the employee stopped working for the employer that, more likely than not, are the substantial cause of the employee’s current back condition.  Accordingly, we find the employee has not established entitlement to TTD due to complaints of back pain for any period of time under her claim.

C. No claim has been made for TTD based on emotional distress:

The board notes that the employee’s psychiatrist Dr. Heidi Lopez-Coonjohn repeatedly attributed the employee’s psychiatric condition to workplace stress, among other identified stressors that included first the stroke and then death of the employee’s mother, and the employee’s on-going struggle to deal with her son’s traumatic brain injury.  However, the employee’s WCC form clearly identifies only hand pain and back pain as a basis for her claim.  The employee has filed no claim form seeking entitlement to benefits due to mental, emotional, psychiatric or psychological injury, and the panel expresses no view on the employee’s entitlement to benefits based on such a claim.
  In particular, the board notes that the employee, at the most recent pre-hearing conference, was paraphrased by the pre-hearing officer Betty Johnson as stating:

“EE has not returned to work, is currently receiving SSI since approximately April 2007.  Awarded SSI for back, hand and emotional conditions, she states they are all related to the 08-07-06 [sic]
 work incident.”

The Social Security Administration’s award is not of record before the board.  A verbal statement of a perceived basis for receipt of benefits by the Social Security Administration is insufficient to constitute a claim for award of benefits by the board; the Alaska Supreme Court has clearly stated that a “claim” is “a written application for benefits which is filed with the Board.”
  The board’s regulations require that a claim be submitted in a writing signed by the claimant, meeting certain criteria as to content.  The board has a form created for this purpose, the Workers Compensation Claim form.
  While an existing claim may be orally amended,
 there is no indication in the record before the panel that the employee has sought to amend her original claim to include award of benefits on the basis of mental injury caused by mental stress.  The board notes that the employee continued to characterize her claim at hearing on April 8, 2008 as being limited to injury of her right hand and low back.  This has been consistent with all of the employee’s statements at earlier hearings, proceedings and filings.  We conclude the employee has not filed a claim for benefits based on mental injury caused by mental stress, and has not requested to amend her original
January 4, 2007 WCC to include mental injury caused by mental stress as a basis for her claim.

III.
Medical benefits  and medically-related transportation benefits are awarded only for the time period of August 23, 2006 to December 8, 2006, for treatment of the employee’s right hand pain:

AS 23.30.395(26) defines “medical and related benefits” as follows:

physicians' fees, nurses' charges, hospital services, hospital supplies, medicine and prosthetic devices, physical rehabilitation, and treatment for the fitting and training for use of such devices as may reasonably be required which arises out of or is necessitated by an injury, and transportation charges to the nearest point where adequate medical facilities are available; . . . .

The employee has requested further medical benefits, but has not specified the amount of those benefits, and has not submitted copies of medical bills showing the amount of such bills that have been incurred but have not been paid, the treatment and procedures performed, etc.  At the 
July 11, 2007 hearing, the employee was admonished on the record that she would have to produce medical bills and receipts to establish a claim for medical benefits.  Following the analysis regarding entitlement to TTD, above, the board finds that the employee has established entitlement to medical services, medications and treatment
 for the employee’s hand condition, for the time period of August 23, 2006 to December 8, 2006. 

Under our discretionary authority of AS 23.30.135(a) and 8 AAC 45.195, the board shall grant the employee sixty (60) additional days to submit true and correct copies of medical bills incurred for medical services received, and for medically-related transportation expenses incurred, related to treatment for hand pain during the time period of August 23, 2006 to December 8, 2006.  To the extent the employee seeks payment to herself for these medical bills, the employee must provide documentary proof of her payment of the bills.  Otherwise, any outstanding medical bills shall be paid by the employer directly to the medical provider, not to the employee.  We shall decline to award medical benefits or medically-related transportation benefits for unpaid medical bills or transportation expenses not proven by documentation supplied to the employer’s attorney within sixty (60) days of the date of this decision.

The employee has not submitted a claim for interest under this claim, which is payable in any event to a medical provider whose bill was delayed in payment, starting from the date an employer receives both a copy of the medical bill, and a copy of the documents describing the service delivered.
    The board shall reserve jurisdiction to resolve continuing disputes over the compensability and amount of specific medical and medically-related transportation expenses for treatment for hand pain, during the time period of August 23, 2006 to December 8, 2006, including interest on unpaid bills for services rendered during this time period.  

For the period of December 8, 2006 forward, following the analysis for entitlement to TTD based on report of hand pain, the board finds that the employee has not established entitlement to medical benefits (or medically-related transportation benefits) for complaints of hand pain beyond December 8, 2006.

Following the analysis of the employee’s claim for TTD based on back pain, as stated above, the board finds the employee has not established entitlement to medical benefits (or medically-related transportation benefits) under the Act for treatment of back pain, for any period of time.


IV.
RBA Eligibility Determination
AS 23.30.041 provides, in pertinent part:

(c) If an employee suffers a compensable injury and, as a result of the injury, the employee is totally unable, for 45 consecutive days, to return to the employee’s employment at the time of injury, the administrator shall notify the employee of the employee’s rights under this section . . . .   If the employee is totally unable to return to the employee’s employment at the time of the injury for 90 consecutive days as a result of the injury, the administrator shall, without a request, order an eligibility evaluation . . . .

(e)  An employee shall be eligible for benefits under this section upon the employee’s written request and by having a physician predict that the employee will have permanent physical capacities that are less than the physical demands of the employee’s job as described in the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor’s “Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Revised Dictionary of Occupational Titles” . . . .

We analyze entitlement to re-employment benefits, like any other benefit, using the same 3-step compensability analysis when compensability is disputed.    An additional element to eligibility for re-employment benefits is the need for a prediction of permanent impairment of physical capacity.  Based on our finding above that the employee’s complaints of back pain are the result of non-occupational factors encountered by the employee after she had ceased working for the employer, we find and conclude that the employee is not entitled to re-employment benefits based on a claim of a work-induced back injury.

As to a claim of entitlement to re-employment benefits based on a hand injury: ANP Brewster submitted a hand-written note on November 29, 2006, opining that the employee, due to the effect of medications the employee was being prescribed at that time, was not able to return at that time to a modified job.
  Later, after a discontinuation of Percocet and trial of Fentanyl pain patches, ANP Brewster issued a notice of the employee’s ability to return to light duty work with the following limitations: “NO lifting whatsoever;” “needs to change positions frequently;” “no bending [or] crouching.”
  This evidence, coupled with the employee’s testimony of inability to return to work due to pain in her hands, can be assumed for the sake of argument as establishing the preliminary link of compensability for re-employment benefits, although ANP Brewster’s imprecise statements could as easily be focused on the employee’s back condition (which we have found is non-occupational) rather than the hand condition.

The employer has, however, in the reports of both Drs. Radecki and Silverman, adduced evidence that the employee is not permanently impaired due to the condition of the employee’s hand as a result of workplace conditions.  The employer therefore has met its burden at the second stage of the compensability analysis.

At the third stage, weighing the evidence together, the board finds that Dr. Radecki’s and 
Dr. Silverman’s reports are most persuasive, and overcome the spare and imprecise statements of ANP Brewster, even when PA Brewster’s report is interpreted in a way most favorable to the employee’s claim for re-employment benefits based on hand injury.  We find that the employee was not permanently impaired in her right hand as a result of workplace conditions to which she was exposed, and therefore we find and conclude that the employee is not entitled to an eligibility determination under AS 23.30.041(c).

V.  Unfair and frivolous controversion claim
We next consider the employee’s claim that the employer’s controversion was frivolous and unfair.  In Harp v. Arco Alaska, Inc.,
 the Alaska Supreme Court held that an employer must have specific evidence for a good faith controversion:

A controversion notice must be filed in good faith to protect an employer from imposition of a penalty… For a controversion notice to be filed in good faith, the employer must possess sufficient evidence in support of the controversion that, if the claimant does not introduce evidence in opposition to the controversion, the Board would find that the claimant is not entitled to benefits.

We have previously applied the court’s reasoning in Harp and held that a controversion not made in good faith is frivolous and unfair for purposes of AS 23.30.155(o).
  We have consistently required an employer or insurer to have specific evidence on which to base a controversion.
   Here, we find the employer controverted, and failed to pay further benefits after December 25, 2006, based upon the opinions of Dr. Radecki.  We find, under the facts presented, that the employer had specific and substantial evidence upon which to base its controversion of benefits.  Therefore, we conclude the employer’s controversion of benefits was neither frivolous nor unfair for purposes of AS 23.30.155(o).


ORDER
1. The employee’s request for a continuance of the hearing on the employee’s
January 4, 2007 WCC is denied.

2. The employee is awarded five (5) additional weeks of TTD benefits, totaling $2,058.45, due to the employee’s right hand condition, plus interest under AS 23.30.155(p) and
8 AAC 45.142.  

3. The employee’s claim for TTD benefits beyond December 8, 2006 is denied and dismissed.

4. Medical benefits (including medically-related transportation benefits) related to treatment of the employee’s hands for  the time period of August 23, 2006 to December 8, 2006,  are awarded, including interest payable thereon under AS 23.30.155(p) and
8 AAC 45.142.  The employee shall provide to the employer’s counsel true and correct copies of billings, and if not previously provided or of record, copies of any report documenting the service or good provided, within sixty (60) days of this decision.

5. The employee’s claim for medical benefits (including medically-related transportation benefits), for expenses incurred after December 8, 2006 due to the employee’s hand condition, is denied and dismissed.

6. The employee’s claim for medical benefits (including medically-related transportation benefits), related to treatment of the employee’s back, is denied and dismissed.

7. The employee’s claim for an eligibility determination for re-employment benefits is denied and dismissed.

8. The employee’s claim for an unfair or frivolous controversion is denied and dismissed.

9. The board shall retain jurisdiction to resolve any continuing dispute regarding the amount and compensability of any medical or medically-related transportation expenses related to treatment of the employee’s hands, incurred by the employee during the time period of
August 23, 2006 to December 8, 2006, including disputes as to the calculation of interest that may be awardable to medical providers.

Dated at Juneau, Alaska on May 27, 2008.





ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD






/s/ Robert B. Briggs





Robert B. Briggs, Designated Chair






/s/ Patricia Vollendorf





Patricia Vollendorf, Member






/s/ Robert Weel





Robert Weel, Member

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of SHERRY BRIDGES, employee / applicant; v. JUNEAU YOUTH SERVICES, INC., employer; AIG CLAIM SERVICES, INC., insurer / defendants; Case No. 200613244; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers' Compensation Board in Juneau, on May 27, 2008.



/s/ Ted Burkhart 



Ted Burkhart, Workers’Compensation Technician







* AWCB Dec. No. 07-0223 (Aug. 1, 2007).


� 8/28/06 Report of Occupational Injury or Illness; see also 10/23/06 Physician’s Report (by Dana Richards, MS-PAC). 


� “Not otherwise specified.”


� 11/24/04 Progress Note,  D.E. Richards, MS PA-C (noting history of “arthralgia -1st MCP” [metacarpophalangeal] joint)(Medical Summary filed 6/29/07).  [The employee had also had injections in her hands in January and May 2006. 5/2/06 and 1/5/06 G. Dostal, MD, Chart Notes (Medical Summary filed 1/19/07)(SIME Binder 0064)].  


� “Temperomadibular joint.”


� [A nevus is a benign lesion of the skin containing melanocytes, sometimes referred to as “moles” or “birthmarks.”  Blakeston’s Gould Medical Dictionary at 911 (Fourth Ed. McGraw Hill Book Co. 1979).]


� See generally medical summaries filed 12/8/06, 1/19/07, 6/14/07, 6/29/07, 7/10/07. E.g., 6/23/06 Chart note, D.Richards, MS, PA-C (noting employee’s report of NSAID intolerance); 12/23/05 Letter, D. Richards, MS, PA-C, to G. Dostal, MD, referring employee for evaluation of osteoarthritis of first carpal metacarpal joint of right hand (Medical Summary filed 6/29/07). One provider in February 2007 described employee as having “profound opioid dependence.”  2/22/07, [Signature not identifiable: Bautista?], Progress Notes, Juneau Urgent Care (Medical Summary filed 6/29/07).


� 11/18/05 Progress Note, D.E. Richards, MS, PA-C (treated with recommendation to shift time of taking Effexor and chamomile tea, physician reluctant to prescribe additional sleep-inducing medication “because of her other medications”)(Medical Summary filed 6/29/07).  [Medical records in chronological order, documenting the employee’s treatment prior to August 2006, are contained in the SIME binder prepared for the SIME physician Dr. Silverman.  See SIME Binder, Bates-stamp Nos. 0001-0088].


[7.1 9/7/06 R. Piper, PhD, Bartlett Reg. Hosp., Mental Health Consultation/Crisis Intervention (SIME Binder 0110)].


� 9/22/06 Psychiatric evaluation, H. Lopez-Coonjohn, MD; 11/8/06 Physician’s Report, H. Lopez-Coonjohn, MD (Medical Summary filed 1/19/07).


8.1 [The employer identified the position as “Youth Worker.”  8/28/06 ROI, at Block 29.]


� 5/18/07 Deposition of Sherry Bridges, at pages 32-22 and 91-92.


� Id. at pages 27-28, 31.


� E.g. 11/24/04 D. Richards, MS, PA-C, Progress Notes (describing abnormal tension and stress due to son moving in with employee and stressful job. 


� 5/18/07 Deposition of Sherry Bridges, at page 38-41(describing refusal to enter false notation of a parent no-show as rationale for agency’s failure to comply with deadlines in case management).


� Id. at pages 31-36.


� Id. at pages 38-40. The employee consulted with an attorney, Kathleen Frederickson, but according to the employee was dropped as a client because the employee refused to pursue a qui tam action [referred to in the deposition as a “Keyton” action] against the employer. Id. at page 38.


14.1 10/9/03 G. Dostal, MD, Rx for Percocet (SIME Binder 0004); 11/25/03 D. Richards, PA, Annual Physical Note (SIME Binder 0005).


14.2 E.g., 2/15/05 D. Richards, PA, Progress Notes (SIME Binder 0015).


14.3 Id.


14.4 5/8&10/06 D. Richards, PA, Telephone Encounter Chart Notes (SIME Binder 0077, 0079).


14.5 6/23/06 D. Richards, PA, Progress Notes (SIME Binder 0080-0082); 6/23 & 26/06 D. Richards, PA, Telephone Encounter Chart Notes (SIME Binder 0083-0085). 


14.6 7/24/06 D. Richards, PA, Telephone Encounter Chart Note (SIME Binder 0088).


� 5/18/07 Deposition of Sherry Bridges, at pages 31-34; at pages 88-92.  [At hearing, the employee testified also that she moved refrigerators during this move.  4/8/08 Hearing (Testimony of S. Bridges) at 3:51-3:52.]


� E.g., id. at pages 70-71.


16.1 8/17/06 and 8/22/06, D. Richarrs, P.A., Chart Notes (SIME Binder 0089-90).


� Deposition of Sherry Bridges, at pages 45-46.  [The board takes administrative notice that the 2006-2007 Juneau School District academic year, for grades 1-12, commenced on August 23, 2006, and for pre-K and K grades, on August 28, 2006.  Juneau School District, 2006-2007 School Calendar, printed from � HYPERLINK "http://jsd.k12.ak.us/rb/pdf" �http://jsd.k12.ak.us/rb/pd�f�/dis_cal/06_07_calendar.pdf (printed and filed Apr. 8, 2008).]


17.1 8/25/06 G. Dostal, MD, Rx and Chart Note (SIME Binder 0092-0093).


17.2 8/28/06 J. Lingle, OT, Bartlett Reg. Hosp., Occupational Therapy Initial Outpatient Evaluation;�8/29/06 G. Dostal, MD, Rx and Chart Note (SIME Binder 0093-0096).


17.3 9/1/06 G. Dostal, MD, Chart Note (SIME Binder 0093).


17.4 “Carpometacarpal,” denoting pain in the joint between the first metacarpal bone and the trapezium of the hand.  


17.5  9/1/06 G. Dostal, Chart note; 9/1/06 G. Dostal, MD, Letter to J. Bursell, MD; 9/1/06 W.A. Richey, MD, Bartlett Reg. Hosp., Report of X-ray of Right Hand and Elbow (SIME Binder 0098-0101).


17.6  9/5/06 D. Richards, PA, Chart Note (SIME Binder 0102-0103).


17.7 9/7/06 K. Brown, MD, Bartlett Reg. Hosp., Emergency Dept. Note (visit V0003527157; administered dilaudid IM with phenergan with 4 pills of Restoril); 9/7/06 R. Piper, PhD, Bartlett Reg. Hosp., Mental Health Consultation/Crisis Intervention Note, esp. Axis III Diagnosis (“Arthritis in Hands; unknown re: allergies”); 9/7/06, J. Thompson, MD, Bartlett Reg. Hosp., Emergency Dept. Note (visit V0003528247; administered dilaudid IM and phenergan) (SIME Binder 0110-0111 and 0113-0117)]. 


17.8 9/12/06 D. Richards, PA, Chart Note (SIME Binder 0118-0119).


17.9 9/14/08 D. Richards, PA, Chart Notes (SIME Binder 0120-121).


� 9/15/06, J. Bursell, MD, Report of Electodiagnostic studies (Medical Summary filed 1/19/07)[(SIME Binder 0122-0123)].


18.1 9/18/06, 9/19/06, and 9/20/06 D. Richards, PA, Chart notes (SIME Binder 0124-0126).


18.2 9/21/06 D. Richards, Chart Note (SIME Binder 0127).


� 9/[22]/06, H. Lopez-Coonjohn, MD, Psychiatric Evaluation (Medical Summary filed 1/19/07)[(SIME Binder 0128-0131)].


19.1 10/12/06 G. Dostal, MD, Chart Note (SIME Binder 0137).


19.2 “Psoriatic arthritis” is defined as “arthritis associated with psoriasis which is either a variant of rheumatoid arthritis or a distinct entity.  Involvement of the distal interphalangeal joint is frequent.”  Blakiston’s Gould Medical Dictionary, at page 1123 (McGraw Hill Book Co. 1979).


19.3 10/12/06 D. Richards, PA, Chart Note (SIME Binder 0135)


19.4 10/12/06 D. Richards, PA, Chart Note (SIME Binder 0138-0139).


� 10/17/06, N. Perez, MD, Release and Progress notes (Medical Summary filed 1/19/07)[SIME Binder at pages 0145-0150].


� 10/24/06, J. Bursell, MD, chart note (Medical Summary filed 1/19/07).


� 10/30/06, L. Mervine, PT, Physical Therapy Outpatient Progress Note, Bartlett Reg. Hosp.; 10/31/06, L. Mervine, PT, Physical Therapy Outpatient Progress Note (Medical Summary filed 1/19/07). The initial evaluation for this physical therapy identifies the treating diagnosis of osteoarthritis of bilateral basal joints, without mention of lumbar spine. 10/25/06, J.Lingle, OT, Occupational Therapy Initial Outpatient Evaluation, Bartlett Reg. Hosp. (Medical Summary filed 1/19/07).


� 9/22/06 H. Lopez-Coonjohn, MD, Psychiatric Evaluation, Bartlett Reg. Hosp. (reporting mother’s recent strokes); 10/6/06 H. Lopez-Coonjohn, MD, Medication Management and Psychotherapy Note (describing mother’s death); 11/8/06 H. Lopez-Coonjohn, MD, Medication Management and Psychotherapy Note (“Sherry reported back injury during packing of her mother’s belongings”).


� 11/7/06 K. Kartchner, FNP, Emergency Department Note, Bartlett Reg. Hosp. (documenting report of carrying baggage and extended sitting on airplane)(Medical Summary filed 1/19/07).


� Id. (“significant escalation of her discomfort over the last 24 hours due to travel plans”).


� Id.


� 11/10/06 G. Blair, MD, Report of MRI of Right Wrist (Medical Report filed 1/19/07) )[SIME Binder, pages 0203-0204].


� 11/7/06 G. Blair, MD, Report of MRI of Lumbar Spine (Medical Summary filed 1/19/07)[SIME Binder pages 0187-0188].


� Due to pain the employee was unable to complete both MRIs scheduled for 11/7/06, and so the MRI for the wrist had to be delayed. The employee received IM-injections of dilaudid and phenergan in the emergency department after the lumbar MRI. 11/8/06 K. Brown, MD, Emergency Department Note, Bartlett Reg. Hosp.


� 11/10/06 G. Blair, MD, Report of MRI of Right Wrist (Medical Report filed 1/19/07)[SIME Binder, pages 0203-0204].


� [12/1/06 J. Bursell, MD, Office/Outpatient Visit Note (SIME Binder 0221-0222)].


� 12/18/06 J. Bursell, MD, Procedure Note (Medical Summary filed 7/10/07). 


� 4/11/07, [Unidentified signature], Juneau Urgent Care, Progress Note (noting “constant” back pain); 4/30/07 J. Brewster, ANP, Juneau Urgent Care, Progress Note (Medical Summary filed 6/29/07)(noting decision to increase Oxycontin prescription while decreasing Fentanyl patch due to problems with the patch).


� 12/14/06 G. Matera, MD, Juneau Urgent Care (Medical Summary filed 1/19/07), see also 11/24/06 G. Matera, MD, Juneau Urgent Care (“the above named is a patient being seen here for her work related injuries”)(Medical Summary filed 6/29/07). Dr. Matera released the employee from work on November 9, 2006. 11/9/06 G. Matera, Report to Employer – Medical Treatment of Employee (Medical Summary filed 1/19/07).


� 1/18/07, Letter, D. Richards, MS, PA-C, to L. Ladner, Disability Adjudicator, Alaska Dep’t. of Labor & Workforce Dev., Div. of Voc. Rehab. (Medical Summary filed 6/29/07). 


� 10/23/06 D. Richards, MS, PAC, Physician’s Report (filed 10/25/06). On this form, the provider stated: “Pt. had chronic hand pain prior to injury; back pain may be related to work injury.”


� 11/8/06 H. Lopez-Coonjohn, MD, Physician’s Report (Medical Summary filed 1/19/07).


37.1 12/14/06 G. Dostal MD, Chart Note (SIME Binder 0254).


37.2 12/27/06 G. Dostal MD, Letter to S. Bridges (SIME Binder 0270a).


� 12/8/06, P.L. Radecki, MD, Report (Medical Summary filed December 22, 2006)(SIME Binder 0223-0247).


� See generally id.


� 1/25/07, 2/22/07, 3/3/07, 3/9/07, 4/1/07, 4/11/07, 4/30/07 J. Brewster, et al., Juneau Urgent Care chart notes (SIME Binder 0274-0287). 


� 4/30/07 J. Brewster, ANP, Juneau Urgent Care, Report to Employer – Medical Treatment of Employee (SIME Binder 0288).


� Second Independent Medical Evaluation Form, at page 2 (filed 7/11/07).


� Id. at page 2 (SIME list of physicians); AWCB Dec. No. 07-0223 (Aug. 11, 2007), at page 9.


� 9/19/07 J. Silverrnan, MD, SIME Report , at page 17 (Medical Summary filed 10/25/07).


� Id. at 18.


� Id.


� Id. at pages 20-21.


� Id. at 21.


� 8/28/06 ROI, Block 32.


� 1/10/07 Compensation Report, L. J. Hunsperger, at Blocks 12, 15, 17, and 20 (filed 1/16/07).  See also 10/31/06 Compensation Report, L.J. Hunsperger (filed 11/6/06)(noting onset of disability on 10/17/06).


� 12/22/06 Controversion Notice (filed 12/26/06).  A second controversion notice corrected certain typographical errors regarding the date of Dr. Radecki’s report.  1/25/07 Controversion Notice (filed 1/29/07).


� 1/4/07 WCC (filed 1/5/07).


� 1/4/07 WCC (filed 1/5/07).  The WCC contained a mix of narrative documents prepared by the employee in response to certain parts of the WCC form, medical records, e-mail communications between the employee and other personnel of the employer, and other documents.  Apparently, the WCC was originally submitted to the board with a Medical Summary attached that described only one specific medical record, a memorandum by Dr. Bursell dated December 14, 2006.  Additional medical records from Dr. Dostal’s office were part of this package.  The attachments to the WCC were numbered in a confusing manner, with the narrative addendum to the WCC form numbered by paragraph, nos. 1-10 and 14.  Other attachments contained a hand-written numbering sequence 11-16 and 18-24.  There is no item numbered 17.  Because the documents are serially numbered, separation of them might confuse the record.  Because the package contains medical records mixed with other items, the board has duplicated the entire employee submission filed on January 5, 2007, with the original attachments filed with the original WCC.  A copy of the WCC and all attachments (including the medical summary form) has been filed with the medical records section of the file. 


� 1/5/07 Request for Conference (filed 1/5/07).


� 1/10/07 K. Donavan for J. Cohen, Notice of Pre-Hearing Conference.


� 2/8/07 Pre-Hearing Conference Summary.


� 1/24/07 Answer (filed 1/26/07).


� 4/9/07 ARH (filed 4/9/07).  The employee attached another narrative statement, “To Whom it May Concern,” and two additional statements (by Michael Dobson and Angie Lunda, principal, Gastineau Elementary School).  These three documents were later marked by the presiding hearing officer for identification as Employee’s Exhibit 1 (filed July 11, 2007).


� 4/13/07 K. Donovan for J. Cohen, AWCB, Notice of Pre-hearing Conference.


� 4/17/07 Request for Cross-Examination (filed 4/19/07); 4/17/07 Affidavit of S. Nelson in Opposition to Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing (filed 4/19/07).


� 5/2/07 J. Cohen, WCO, Pre-Hearing Conference Report.


� 5/2/07 Notice of Taking Deposition (filed 5/9/07).


� 5/9/07 Letter, S. Nelson, Griffin & Smith, to J. Cohen, AWCB.


� 5/10/07 Petition and Request for Conference (filed 5/11/07).


� 5/18/06 Transcript of Deposition of Sherry Bridges (filed July 11, 2007).


� 5/18/07 Bridges Depo. at  page 71, lines 2-6.


� Id. at page 36,  line 18  to page 38 line 3 (describing release by J. Brewster, ANP “about a week ago”).


� 6/15/07 ARH and Request for Conference (filed 6/18/07).


� 7/11/07 Hearing  at 03:00 – 04:00 (statement of R. Briggs, HO).


� Id. at 07:20 – 08:35 (statement of R. Briggs, HO).


� Id. at 09:40 – 14:15 (testimony and argument of S. Bridges).


� Id. at 25:50 (statement of R. Briggs)


� Id. at 29:24 (statement of C. Smith). 


� Id. at 05:30 (statement of R. Briggs); 7/25/07 Letter, R. Briggs, AWCB, to S. Bridges and C. Smith.


� AWCB Dec. No. 07-0223 (Aug. 1, 2007), at pages 10-12.


� 8/22/07 Pre-Hearing Conference Summary (served 8/23/07).


� 8/23/07 Affidavit of Service (filed 8/24/07).  The SIME binder on file with the board is confusingly labeled “Medical Records (Vol. II),” but contains medical records numbered 0001 through 000290.  It is evident that this “Volume II” was the second duplicate of the single SIME binder submitted to Dr. Silverman.  From examination of this binder and Dr. Silverman’s report, there are no documents cited in Dr. Silverman’s report not contained in “Volume II.”  Similarly, the board has examined “Volume II,” and there are no medical records of significance in the volume that are not discussed in Dr. Silverman’s report. 


� 9/7/07 Letter, R. Briggs, AWCB, to S. Bridges and C. Smith, Esq., and attached attorney referral list. 


� 10/12/07 D. Torgerson, WCO, AWCB,  E-mail to R. Briggs, HO, AWCB.


� 11/26/07 Notice of PreHearing Conference.


� 11/29/07 PreHearing Conference Summary.


� 3/27/08 Hearing Notice.  The employer’s counsel signed for receipt of this notice on March 31, 2008.  The employee signed for receipt of this notice, delivered to her post office box, on April 7, 2008.  USPS Form 3811 (“green card”) Receipts (filed 4/3/08 and 4/8/08).


� 3/10/08 Witness List (filed 3/12/08).


� 3/31/08 Employer’s Hearing Brief (filed 4/1/08).


� 4/2/08 R. Briggs Notes to File.


� 4/7/08 R. Briggs Notes to File, telephone conversations with S. Bridges, T. Batchelor.


� The other Juneau panelist, Richard Behrends, was not available to serve on April 8, 2008.


� 4/8/08 Hearing at 10:45 – 10:57.


� Id. at 11:41 – 11:43 (statement of Ms. Bridges).


� Id. at 10:58 – 10:59 (statement of Mr. Dobson).


� Id. at 10:59 – 11:02 (statement of Ms. Bridges); at 4:19 – 4:21 (statement of Mr. Dobson).


� 11/29/07 Pre-Hearing Conference Order, at page 1.


� Id. at 11:30 – 11:31 (statement of Mr. Smith).


� Id. at 11:34 – 11:43.


� 4/8/08 B. Johnson, WCO, Note of Telephone Conversation (filed 4/8/08).


� Proceedings in Eulene Ensley v. Tripp, Inc., AWCB Case No. 200503130.


� The board takes administrative notice that Mr. Batchelor’s office, located at 9000 Glacier Highway in Juneau, is approximately 7.8 miles from the offices of the board at 1111 West 8th Avenue in Juneau, approximately 20 to 30 minutes’ total driving time, depending on traffic.  


� 4/8/08 Hearing proceeding, at 3:38 – 3:43 (argument of parties and ruling by the presiding officer).


� Id. at 11:37 – 11:38 (objection by Mr. Smith).


100 Id. at 4:34 – 4:39; 4:43 – 4:44.   See Comm’l Union Cos. v. Smallwood, 550 P.2d 1261 (Alaska 1976)(violation of due process of law to admit a report over employer’s objection, where employer requested opportunity to cross-examine the author of the report, and the employee did not produce the author of report at hearing).  The employee expressed confusion as to the procedure under a request for cross-examination, that because the employer requested cross-examination, that the employer would have to obtain the witness’ attendance.  Mr. Dobson also pointed out that the employer’s request for cross-examination was over a year old, and should not be ruled applicable for a hearing on April 8, 2008.  Id. at 4:37 – 4:39.  We overruled the employer’s objection based on the argument that the request for cross-examination was untimely, and the procedure confusing to a pro se employee.  Ultimately, however, we find Ms. Lunda’s note not probative on whether a workplace injury occurred on August 21-23, 2006, as the report describes no observation of any injury to the employee.  Employee’s Exhibit 3, page 3.  At most, Ms. Lunda’s note is admissible to refute the employer’s cross-examination suggesting the employee experienced a pre-existing back condition.


101 Id. at 3:51 – 3:52 (testimony of S. Bridges).


102 Id. at 4:49 – 4:50 (testimony of S. Bridges).


103 Id. at 3:56 – 3:59 (testimony of S. Bridges; argument of C. Smith). 


104 Id. at 4:44 – 4:45 (testimony of Mr. Dobson).


105 Id. at 4:46 – 4:49.


� While there was potential ground for further continuance due to the absence of Mr. Dobson, the board panel had indicated an alternative procedure would have been to hold the record open for Mr. Dobson’s testimony to be received either at a continued hearing, or by deposition.  Mr. Dobson mooted this point by clearing his schedule, and attending the continued hearing in the afternoon of April 8, 2008.  No other material witness was identified who was absent from the proceeding.   The employee did not produce Ms. Lunda as a witness, but also did not raise Ms. Lunda’s absence as a basis for a continuance.   We overruled the employer’s Smallwood objection to admission Ms. Lunda’s  on the ground raised by the employer, as Ms. Lunda was not listed on an witness list provided by the employee, was not produced to testify despite a Request for Cross-examination being filed and maintained by the employer.  Therefore, we find and conclude that Ms. Lunda is not a material witness, whose absence would form the basis for yet another continuance.  The letter written by Ms. Lunda is hearsay not admissible under any exception to the hearsay exclusionary rule.  Rule 803, Alaska Rules of Evidence.  Therefore, having failed to produce the witness after the  employer’s duly noticed request for cross-examination, the board cannot consider the document submitted attributed to Ms. Lunda (marked for identification as Employee’s Exhibit 1, at page 3.   8 AAC 45.120(b), (f), (g); see Comm’l Union Cos. v. Smallwood, 550 P.2d 1261, at 1266-67 (Alaska 1976)(ruling legal error in the board’s failure to afford opportunity to cross-examine medical witness while admitting the witness’ medical reports, ruling right of cross-examination is absolute and not burdened by the cost of having to produce the witness; party seeking to introduce written evidence, if opponent demands cross-examination, must produce the authenticating witness or else the document is excluded).  Second, we disregard Ms. Lunda’s letter as irrelevant, since it does not express any perceptions of Ms. Lunda with regard to the alleged injuries of late August 2006.  We therefore find and conclude that Ms. Lunda’s letter is irrelevant.





� Although Ms. Vollendorf attended the April 8, 2008 hearing by telephone, Ms. Vollendorf was physically present for the July 11, 2007 hearing.  Mr. Briggs was physically present at both hearings.


� Thornton v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Bd., 411 P.2d 209, 210 (Alaska 1966).


� AS 23.30.010(a); State of Alaska v. Dennis, AWCAC Dec. No. 036 (Mar. 23, 2007), at page 11; Cossette v. Providence Medical Center, AWCB Dec. No. 08-0013 (Jan. 11, 2008), at page 14 (quoting Dennis); Iversen v. Terrasond, Ltd., AWCB Dec. No. 07-0350 (Nov. 19, 2007), at pages 15-16.


� AS 23.30.120(a);  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996).


� Burgess Constr. Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).


� Veco, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).


� Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987).


� Smallwood, 623 P.2d at 316.


� Wein Air Alaska v. Kramer, 807 P.2d at 473-74.


� Louisiana Pac. Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).


� Id. (quoting Smallwood, 623 P.2d at 316).


� Veco, 693 P.2d at 869.


� Grainger v. Alaska Workers' Comp. Bd., 805 P.2d 976, 977 (Alaska 1991).


� Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Comp. Bd., 880 P.2d 1051 (Alaska 1994).


� Koons, 816 P.2d 1381.


� Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).


� Iversen, supra, AWCB Dec. No. 07-0350, at page 14.


� State of Alaska v. Dennis, AWCAC Dec. No. 036 (Mar. 23, 2007), at page 11.


� DeYonge v. NANA/Marriott, 1 P.3d 90 (Alaska 2000).


� Although on some forms filed with the board, the employee listed the date of injury as September 23, 2006, it is evident that this was a inadvertent error, and that the employee is seeking benefits from August 23, 2006.  In the employee’s deposition, and also at a pre-hearing conference, the employee clarified this point, and disavowed an alteration of the interlineated date of injury of August 7, 2006 on the Report of Injury form.  See supra note 61 and accompanying text.


� 5/18/07 Bridges Depo. at page 36, line 18 to page 37, line 25.


�Although the employer objected to testimony by any witnesses proffered by the employee due to the absence of a witness list, the board permitted Ms. Bridges and Mr. Dobson to testify, by implication overruling the employer’s objection.  Ms. Bridges was deposed by the employer in May 2007, and as a party her testimony is admissible despite lack of a witness list.  8 AAC 45.112(1).  Mr. Dobson was known to the employer as a potential witness since at least April 17, 2007, when the employer filed its Request for Cross-Examination listing Mr. Dobson as one of the persons it wished to cross-examine.  The employee’s relationship with Mr. Dobson was mentioned during the employee’s deposition.  Mr. Dobson appeared at the July 11, 2007 hearing, at which it was discussed that�Mr. Dobson would be testifying at the hearing on the merits of the employee’s claim.  And Mr. Dobson’s statement had previously been filed by the employee, and was marked for identification as page 2 of Employee’s Exhibit 1, provided to the parties on July 11, 2007.  The board concludes that the witness list rule, 8 AAC 45.112, serves at least two purposes: (1) to help the board schedule sufficient time for a hearing based on the number of anticipated witnesses; and (2) to prevent surprise to the parties of unexpected testimony by previously unidentified witnesses.  Under the unique procedural history of this case, we find any claim of surprise as to Mr. Dobson’s testimony at the hearing is without merit, and under 8 AAC 45.195 decided to waive the exclusionary rule of 8 AAC 45.112 against this pro se claimant.


� 1/18/07 D. Richards, PA, Letter re: SSI Disability Application (SIME Binder page 0272).


� E.g., medical records, SIME binder at pages  0092 (8/25/06 Dostal Rx for OT splint fittimg); 0093 (8/25/06 Dostal chart note); 0094-95 (8/28/06 OT Lingle report documents exacerbation reported after work conditions); 0111 (9/7/06 Piper noting hand arthritis in Axis III); 0122-0123 (9/15/06 Bursell nerve conduction studies); 0129-0130 (9/22/096 Lopez-Coonjohn medical history and Axis III notation);  0138-0139 (10/12/06 Richards chart note); 0145-0148 (10/17/06 JUC Perez: work-related, release from work); 0155-0156 (10/25/06 OT Lingle); 0162-0165 (10/27/06 JUC Matera: release from work, work-related); 0167-0168 (10/27/06 JUC Matera: work-related); 0174-0176 (11/02/06 and  JUC Brewster: work-related); 0189-0193 (11/7/06 Matera: work-related); 0207-0210 (11/9/06 JUC Matera:work release, work-related);  0213 (JUC Matera: “work related injuries”); 0214-0220 (11/26/06 JUC Matera & Brewster: work-related, OT referral for wrists; pain meds impair judgment & ability to return to even modified work); 0248-0253 (12/13 & 14/06 JUC Matera: work-related, referral for reconstructive surgery); 0255 (12/14/06 JUC Matera: “not capable of performing duties required by her job”); 0268-0270 (12/22/06 JUC Brewster: work-related); 0274-0275 (1/25/07 JUC Brewster: not work-related); 0276-0277 (2/22/07 JUC Bautista: not work-related; “profound opioid dependence”); 0279-0280 (3/3/07 JUC Brewster: not work-related; increase Fentanyl, decrease Percocet); 0280-0281 (3/9/07 JUC Brewster: not work-related); 0282-0283 (4/1/07 JUC Perez: not work-related); 0284-85 (4/11/07 JUC Brewster: not work-related); 02886-88 (4/30/07 JUC Brewster: not work related; discontinue Fentanyl patch; EE wants to return to work; light duty with restrictions authorized). 


� SIME Binder 0203.  Paradoxically, the employee argued at hearing that Dr. Silverman told the employee that the 11/8/06 thumb MRI was a “crummy MRI,” and the employee was going to try to obtain a higher quality, more definitive MRI of her thumbs.  As pointed out at hearing, this testimony is hearsay, and the board cannot base a finding of fact on unsubstantiated hearsay that is not otherwise admissible under a hearsay exception.  8 AAC 45.120(e).  But, we find that Dr. Silverman’s report refutes the employee’s allegation about a “crummy MRI,” since Dr. Silverman found the wrist MRI to be of sufficient quality to rely upon it in forming her opinion about the development of extensor tendonitis.


� 8/28/06 J. Lingle, OT, Occupational Therapy Initial Outpatient Evaluation, at page 1 (SIME Binder 0094), noting under objective signs that bilateral wrist motion on extension was “tight at end of range,” noting “left thumb limited opposition to index through ring finger only and patient cannot touch the base of her thumb;” noting “patient with midl weakness for pinch bilaterally and pain with pinching;”  9/15/06 J. Bursell, MD, Chart Note (SIME Binder at 0123), noting positive Tinel’s sign on right median nerve of the wrist and positive Phalen’s sing bilaterally; 10/25/06 J. Lingle, OT, OT Evaluation, at page 1 (SIME Binder 0155), noting left hand and thumb range of motion within normal limits, and right hand and thumb within normal limits “except she can oppose her thumb to her index and middle finger only and she does not have full thumb extension or circumduction.”


� AS 23.30.150.


� 1/10/07 Compensation Report, at block 17.


� Ms. Lunda’s note states that Ms. Lunda never perceived the employee exhibit back pain behavior.  Employee’s Exhibit 1, at page 3.  This is some evidence, taken in isolation, to establish that there was no pre-existing back condition.


� E.g., medical records, SIME binder at pages  0129-0130 (9/22/096 Lopez-Coonjohn medical history and Axis III notation);  0138-0139 (10/12/06 Richards chart note); 0145-0150 (10/17/06 JUC Perez: work-related, release from work; x-ray report); 0155-0156 (10/25/06 OT Lingle); 0152 (10/23/06 Richards: “back pain may be related to work injury”); 0153-0154 (10/24/06 Bursell); 0157-0158 (10/25/06 PT Mervine); 0162-0165 (10/27/06 JUC Matera: release from work, work-related); 0166 (10/27/06 PT Mervine: hand pain greater than back pain); 0167-0168 (10/27/06 JUC Matera: work-related); 0173 (11/2/06 PT Merwine);  0174-0176 (11/02/06 and  JUC Brewster: work-related); 0179 & 0185-0186 (11/7/06 Karchner); 0187 (11/7/06 MRI); 0189-0193 (11/7/06 Matera: work-related); 0197 (11/8/06 PT Mervine); 0201-0202 (11/8/06 ER Brown); 0207-0210 (11/9/06 JUC Matera:work release, work-related);  0213 (JUC Matera: “work related injuries”); 0214-0220 (11/26/06 JUC Matera & Brewster: work-related, OT referral for wrists; pain meds impair judgment & ability to return to even modified work); 0221-0222 (12/1/01 Bursell); 0248-0253 (12/13 & 14/06 JUC Matera: work-related, referral for reconstructive surgery); 0255 (12/14/06 JUC Matera: “not capable of performing duties required by her job”); 0263-0264 (12/18/06 Bursell); 0268-0270 (12/22/06 JUC Brewster: work-related); 0274-0275 (1/25/07 JUC Brewster: not work-related); 0276-0277 (2/22/07 JUC Bautista: not work-related; “profound opioid dependence”); 0279-0280 (3/3/07 JUC Brewster: not work-related; increase Fentanyl, decrease Percocet); 0280-0281 (3/9/07 JUC Brewster: not work-related); 0282-0283 (4/1/07 JUC Perez: not work-related); 0284-85 (4/11/07 JUC Brewster: not work-related); 02886-88 (4/30/07 JUC Brewster: not work related; discontinue Fentanyl patch; EE wants to return to work; light duty with restrictions authorized).


� The employee argued, in essence, that we should disregard Dr. Silverman’s SIME because the employee believed agreement had been reached to send the employee to a hand specialist for an SIME.  This purported agreement is not borne out by the record, and in any event the purpose of an SIME physician is not to make the employee’s case (although as explained at the July 11, 2007 hearing, an SIME report may either support or undercut a claimant’s case).  The purpose for an SIME report is to provide assistance to the board in assessing the medical evidence.  An SIME by a hand specialist would not have helped the board resolve the employee’s complaints regarding back pain.  The board panel, on review of the evidence, still finds that SIME by a physical medicine and rehabilitation specialist was the most useful SIME for assisting the board in resolving this case.  Bah v. Trident Seafoods Corp., AWCAC No. 073 (Feb. 27, 2008)(affirming denial of SIME where no medical dispute, and therefore no need for SIME to assist board in resolving the medical dispute).


� 4/8/08 Hearing at 4:14 – 4:18 and 4:26 – 4:27 (cross-examination of S. Bridges by Mr. Smith).


� See 9/22/06 H. Lopez-Coonjohn, Psychiatric Evaluation, at page 2 (SIME Binder page 0130)(noting fact of mother’s stroke, and plan to travel to attend to her on “Tuesday”( which in context would have been Tuesday, Sept. 23, 2006); 10/6/06 H. Lopez-Coonjohn, Medication Management and Psychotherapy Notes, at page 1 (SIME Binder page 0133 (noting having “gone down to visit with her mother” and the mother’s subsequent death due to another stroke).


� On 11/1/06 the employee reported to Dr. Lopez-Coonjohn that “she will be going to her mother’s memorial.”  (SIME Binder at page 0172); the employee is charted as receiving OT services on her thumb, and refilled her medications at Juneau Urgent Care on 11/2/06  (SIME Binder at pages 0173-0176).  The employee had returned to Juneau on or about 11/6/06 (SIME Binder at page 0179 (describing travel “over the last 24 hours).


� 11/7/06 K. Kartchner, Emergency Dept. Note, Bartlett Reg. Hosp., at page 1 (SIME Binder 0179).


� SIME Binder at pages 0138-0139.  The report on September 22, 2006 was to Dr. Coon-John, the employee’s psychiatrist. 


� E.g., Kornell v. Bald Mountain Air Service, AWCB Dec. No. 08-0018 (Jan. 31, 2008)(declining to accept treating physician’s opinion on causation after finding employee not credible); Conway v. Hoffman Construction, AWCB Dec. No. 94-0296 (Nov. 23, 1994)(same).


� AS 23.30.010(b) requires that benefits are payable on account of mental injury caused by mental stress only where “(1) the work stress was extraordinary and unusual in comparison to pressures and tensions experienced by indificuals in a comparable work environment; and (2) the work stress was the predominate cause of the mental injury. . . .  A mental injury is not considered to arise out of and in the course of employment if it results from a disciplinary action, work evaluation, job transfer, layoff, demotion, termination, or similar action taken in good faith by the employer.”


� As recited in the facts listed above, the original Report of Injury lists August 7, 2006 as the date of injury or last exposure, when the employee testified at deposition August 23, 2006 was the correct date.


� 11/29/07 Pre-Hearing Conference Summary.


� Jonathan v. Doyon Drilling, Inc., 890 P.2d 1121, at 1123 (Alaska 1995).


� 8 AAC 45.050(b)(1) and (4).


� See. e.g., Moreno v. Peking Chinese Restaurant, AWCB Dec. No. 98-0123 (May 22, 1998), at page 1, n. 1 (deeming oral explanation of employee’s purpose in filing pleading, amending pleading to deem it a claim); Harms v. VECO Int’l/Red Dog, AWCB Dec. No. 91-0187 (June 24, 1991), at page 1, n. 1 (deeming pleading amended based on oral request).


� An employee must bring a claim for benefits within two (2) years from the date the employee “has knowledge of the employee’s disability and its relation to the employment and after disablement,” and  in any event, within four (4) years from the date of injury, or else the claim is time-barred.  AS 23.30.105(a).  This rule does not bar a claim by a person who is “mentally incompetent,” so long as such a putative claimant has no guardian or legally authorized representative.  The Section .105(a)  timeclock begins to run, however, from the date a guardian or legally authorized representative is appointed.  AS 23.30.105(c).  We make no finding that the employee in this case is mentally incompetent at any point of time.  Thus if the employee intends to make a claim for benefits based on “mental  injury caused by mental stress, or any other claim founded on the employee’s psychiatric, psychological, or emotional condition, the employee is hereby given notice that she must file such a claim on a board-approved WCC form setting forth the claim on or before two (2) years from the date of her first “knowledge of the [psychiatric, psychological, emotional or mental] disability and its relation to the employment, and after disablement.”  AS 23.30.105(a).





� This includes the electrodiagnostic studies of the e4mployee’s hand and arm by Dr. Bursell on 9/15/06.  SIME Binder at pages 0122-0123.


� AS 23.30.155(p); Fiscus v. Performa, Inc., AWCB Dec. No. 200516423 (Apr. 28, 2006), at page 4 (interest begins to accrue from time employer receives both a report of services provided, and a medical provider’s bill). 


� 11/29/06 J. Brewster, ANP, Note on Letter, A. Reynolds, RN to Dr. Perez (dated 11/21/06)(SIME Binder at page 0218).


� SIME Binder at page 0288.


� 831 P.2d 352, 358 (Alaska 1992).


� Id. at 358.  


� Seamon v. Matanuska Susitna Borough Sch. Dist., AWCB Decision No. 02-0045 (Mar. 8, 2002); Waddell v. Eagle Hardware & Garden, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 98-0095 (Apr. 17, 1998); Stair v. Pool Arctic Alaska Drilling, AWCB Decision No. 98-0092 (Apr. 13, 1998).  


� See Slaughter v. Peratrovich, Nottingham & Drage, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 01-0149 (July 30, 2001);  Prenger v. K-Mart, AWCB Decision No. 98-0190 (July 23, 1998); Lincoln v. TIC-The Industrial Company, AWCB Decision No. 97-0212 (Oct. 20, 1997).  
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